## Assessing an Algae-Based Treatment for Mitigation of Antibiotic Resistance

A Dissertation

Presented to

the faculty of the School of Engineering and Applied Science

University of Virginia

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Kassandra L. Grimes

August 2020

## **APPROVAL SHEET**

This Dissertation is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Author Signature: Karson Limes

This Dissertation has been read and approved by the examining committee:

Advisor: Dr. Lisa Colosi Peterson

Committee Member: Dr. James A. Smith

Committee Member: Dr. Jason A. Papin

Committee Member: Dr. Glynis L. Kolling

Committee Member: Dr. Andres F. Clarens

Committee Member: \_\_\_\_\_

Accepted for the School of Engineering and Applied Science:

OB

Craig H. Benson, School of Engineering and Applied Science

August 2020

## Abstract

The widespread prevalence and growing dissemination of antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) via environmental pathways is becoming an issue of global proportions. Wastewater treatment plants are a source of constituents that may contribute to antibiotic resistance in the environment; namely, antibiotics, antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs), and ARB. The exposure of bacteria to antibiotics, ARGs, and ARB during bacteria-based wastewater treatment creates a selective pressure for the development of more ARB. Resistance may then be transmitted "vertically" to future offspring of those organisms or "horizontally" to other organisms in the same generation, resulting in proliferation of ARB within wastewater treatment plants and downstream receiving waters. Although ARB are theoretically deactivated during wastewater disinfection processes, many antibiotic drug compounds and their corresponding ARGs are present in the effluent and discharged to the environment. Thus, there is strong interest in developing wastewater treatment technologies that can deactivate these entities efficiently, inexpensively, and sustainably.

This dissertation assesses the capacity of a novel algae-mediated biological treatment using the freshwater alga, *Scenedesmus dimorphus*, to remove wastewater constituents that can stimulate antibiotic resistance in downstream environmental bacteria. Interdisciplinary techniques are brought together to measure the removal of the antibiotic ciprofloxacin (CIP), the residual potency of treated CIP effluents during short- and long-term exposures to model bacteria, and the deactivation of plasmid pEX18Tc, which carries the *tet* ARG. Results show significant CIP removal in light control samples without algae and algae treated samples: 53% and 93%, respectively, over 6 days. A residual antibiotic potency assay reveals that untreated CIP is significantly more growth-inhibiting to a model bacterium (*Escherichia coli*) than the algae-treated and light control samples during short exposures (6 hours). Adaptive laboratory evolution, again

using *E. coli*, reveals that treated samples exhibit reduced capacity to stimulate CIP resistance during sustained exposures compared to untreated CIP. Finally, observed CIP resistance in the CIP-exposed bacterial lineages is corroborated via genotype characterization, which reveals the presence of resistance-associated mutations in gyrase subunit A (*gyrA*) that are not present in bacterial lineages exposed to algae treated or light control samples.

Preliminary qPCR and transformation assay experiments reveal that the algae background matrix suppresses plasmid pEX18Tc amplification and transformation relative to controls in pure matrices. Final results for deactivation of the model plasmid pEX18Tc show 100% reduction in plasmid transformation efficiency in less than 3 days for both the algae treatment and light control. As such, algae-mediated tertiary treatment could be effective in deactivating wastewater constituents that stimulate antibiotic resistance in bacterial communities downstream from wastewater treatment plants. In addition, adaptive laboratory evolution and transformation assays are useful for assessing the potential of antibiotics and ARGs to stimulate antibiotic resistance downstream.

The results of this dissertation will not only inform decision-making about treatment technology options and facilitate meaningful risk analysis related to the dissemination of antibiotic resistance via environmental pathways, but also constitute methodological advancements in the environmental engineering field with a particular emphasis on effects-based treatment evaluations.

## Acknowledgements

This dissertation is the product of instrumental collaborations, teamwork, and guidance from students, faculty, and staff both at UVA and beyond. I am so grateful for the support I have received throughout my PhD journey, without which this research would not have been possible.

First, I would like to acknowledge my incredible advisor, Dr. Lisa Colosi Peterson. Lisa, you are an exceptional mentor and I could not have made it this far without your encouragement and unwavering faith in me. Your genuine care and concern for my personal and professional development and encouragement to pursue opportunities outside of the program truly made my PhD a fulfilling experience. Not only are you a remarkable advisor, you are a brilliant engineer and researcher, and an exceptionally engaging professor (to name a few). I will look to this experience as a model for my future mentorship roles.

In addition to Dr. Peterson, I would like to acknowledge my doctoral advisory committee – Dr. James Smith, Dr. Andres Clarens, Dr. Jason Papin, and Dr. Glynis Kolling. Thank you all for your support and feedback on my research throughout my dissertation journey. Your comments and ideas have been instrumental to helping me create a dissertation that I am proud of.

I would also like to give a major thank you to my collaborators in the UVA Computational Systems Biology (Dr. Papin) Lab (CSBL), especially Laura Dunphy and Dr. Glynis Kolling. Thank you for sharing your lab resources, granting me equipment access and entry keys, and for your endless patience when answering my questions and teaching me techniques like PCR and gel electrophoresis. Thank you to all of the CSBL for welcoming me so fully into your group that I occasionally forgot which department I was in. I'd also like to thank my fellow researchers in the Peterson lab group, especially Erica Loudermilk and Jasmin Melara, whose help with the objective 1 experiments made long hours in the lab much more enjoyable. Thank you to our whole group for your support.

I would like to acknowledge the undergraduate research assistants I've had over the years who were majorly helpful in carrying out this research: Maddie Brehaut, Justin Mayfield, Berke Tezcan, Lauren Marshall, and Matthew Stromberg. Thank you all for your enthusiasm toward the research, your patience as I fumbled through many explanations, and for bringing home a win every chance you got!

To my partner, Charles, my parents, and my family: I could not have completed this journey without you! Thank you for your unwavering support and comfort through daily talks/phone calls, and for always knowing how to bring me back to reality when stress carries me away. I am so fortunate to have you all in my life.

To my friends and colleagues: I'm so grateful to you all for making graduate school a fun experience by helping me relieve stress and get out of the lab. You truly made Charlottesville feel like home.

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	1
<ul> <li>1.1 Motivation, Background, and Literature Review</li></ul>	<b>1</b> 2 4 rch gaps7
1.2 References	10
Chapter 2: Research Objectives	16
Chapter 3: Objective 1, Algae Treatment of Antibiotic	
3.1 Introduction	19
<ul> <li>3.2 Materials and Methods</li></ul>	<b>20</b> 20 22 23
3.3 Results and Discussion	27
3.3.1 Algae-mediated CIP Removal	27
3.3.3 Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance	
3.3.4 Characterizing the Genetic Basis for Observed Phenotype CIP Resistance	
3.4 Conclusions	40
3.5 References	41
Chapter 4: Objective 1, Supplementary Information	47
4.1 Algae-mediated removal of CIP	48
4.1.1 Algae Cultivation	
4.1.2 SPE Protocol.	
4.1.3 Approaches to Account for CIP Sorption	
4.2 Assessment of Desidual Acute Antibiotic Deteney	55
4.2.1 E. coli Preparation	
4.2.2 Lysogeny Broth (LB) Recipe	55
4.2.3 Controls used for CIP Acute Potency Bioassay	56
4.3 Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance	56
4.3.1 Calculation of Number of Generations	
4.3.2 MIC Plate Dilution Calculations for E. coli	
4.3.4 Sanger Sequencing – Primer Design	
4.3.5 Retrospective MIC Analyses	
4.4 References	61

Chapter 5: Objective 2, Algae Treatment of a Model ARG Plasmid	
5.1 Introduction	63
5.2 Materials and Methods	66
5.2.1 Algae Treatment	66
5.2.2 Quantification of ARG Plasmid	69
5.2.3 Assessment of ARG Plasmid Transformation Efficiency	70
5.3 Results and Discussion	71
5.3.1 Quantification of ARG Plasmid	71
5.3.2 Assessment of ARG Plasmid Transformation Efficiency	80
5.4 Conclusions	
5.5 References	89
Chapter 6: Contextualization and Thematic Conclusions	
6.1 References	97
Chapter 7: Conclusions and Future Study	
7.1 Research Summary and Conclusions	
7.2 Recommendations for Future Study	

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Diagram of an integrated algae-WWTP system including both nutrient and unregulated contaminant removals and energy generation from methane-derived electricity (Zhang et al., 2014)
Figure 1-2. The pathway for antibiotic resistance-stimulating constituents to enter the wastewater treatment system and disseminate through effluents into the environment. This dissertation seeks to evaluate the potential role of an algae treatment system in mitigating antibiotics and ARGs. The star symbol represents areas of the wastewater treatment system where ARB are selectively amplified through both vertical and horizontal gene transfer processes
Figure 2-1. The research goals for objectives 1 and 2 illustrate a holistic effects-based assessment framework that can be adapted to evaluate other candidate wastewater treatments
Figure 3-1. Normalized (C/C <sub>0</sub> ) concentrations of ciprofloxacin (CIP) over time for experimental algae (EA) and light control (LC) reactors over 144 hours. For dark control (DC) reactors, CIP concentration measurements were taken at hours 0 and 144. Normalized CIP concentrations refer to CIP concentrations at time = t divided by initial CIP concentration (C <sub>0</sub> ), where $C_0 = 25 \mu g/L$ . Error bars are standard error for triplicate reactors of each condition
Figure 3-2. Growth of E. coli cultures exposed to (1) an LB media control without CIP (positive growth control), (2) algae treated (EA) samples, (3) light control (LC) samples, or (4) an untreated 25- $\mu$ g/L CIP standard (CS). Error bars represent standard deviation for the mean of three replicates for each condition. P-values for comparisons of means are as follows: LB media control vs. EA (p = 0.05), LB media control vs. LC (p = 0.32), LB media control vs. untreated CS (p = 0.002), EA vs. LC (p = 0.41), LC vs. untreated CS (p = 0.03), and EA vs. untreated CS (p = 0.04).
Figure 3-3. Observed minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of CIP over time for E. coli lineages exposed to (A) 25- $\mu$ g/L untreated CIP (CS), (B) algae treated (EA) samples, (C) light control (LC) samples, or (D) algae growth media (MB3N) without CIP ("algae media control"). Observed mean MIC values for E. coli lineages exposed to LB media without CIP ("LB media control") are included in all panels (A)-(D), to facilitate visual comparison with wild-type, CIP-sensitive E. coli. Error bars represent standard error for triplicate lineages within each exposure group
Figure 4-1. Algae growth over time during exponential phase, in the presence and absence of 25 $\mu$ g/L CIP. Error bars represent 90% confidence for triplicate reactors. P-value for the t-test to compare two regression slopes (assuming non-pooled standard error) is 0.30. This analysis was conducted using the Real Statistics Resource Pack software (Release 5.4). Copyright (2013 – 2018) Charles Zaiontz (www.real-statistics.com)
Figure 4-2. Normalized (C/C <sub>0</sub> ) concentrations of ciprofloxacin (CIP) over time for autoclaved algae sorption control (AASC) reactors over 144 hours. Error bars are standard error for the duplicate AASC reactors

Figure 4-3. Example chromatogram for 80  $\mu$ g/L CIP standard in a mixed solution of formic acid/acetonitrile/methanol (2/49/49) under HPLC (Shimadzu) fluorescence detection. CIP elutes at roughly 1.9 minutes. Formic acid in the mobile phase generates a peak at roughly 1.0 minute.

Figure 5-2. Preliminary qPCR standard curve using short amplicon primers for plasmid pEX18Tc. There was no calibratable region for this qPCR run and the red dashed line denotes the qPCR detection limit (Ct = 30 cycles). Standard concentrations are presented in Table 5-3. 76

Figure 5-4. Pre- and Post-treatment transformation efficiencies of the pEX18Tc plasmid exposed to (1) dark control, (2) light control, (3) autoclaved algae control, or (4) algae treatment. Treatment duration was 3 days. Error bars represent standard deviation for the mean of three experimental replicates for each condition. See Equation 5-1 for the transformation efficiency equation.

## List of Tables

Table 3-1. Mutations in the quinolone resistance determining regions (QRDR) of gyrA and parC genes for E. coli lineages arising from adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE). Different lineages correspond to propagation in algae treated (EA) samples, light-exposed (LC) samples, or an untreated CIP standard (CS). Genomes from these lineages were compared to the Day-0 ancestors that had never been exposed to CIP
Table 4-1. Micro-well contents for the CIP acute potency bioassay
Table 4-2. CIP concentration gradient in each well to assess MIC of E. coli to CIP during ALE58
Table 4-3. Reference MICs of CIP for "wild-type" (i.e. CIP-susceptible) E. coli
Table 4-4. Primers used in this study.    59
Table 5-1. Long amplicon and short amplicon primers used for the tet gene of pEX18Tc qPCR.
Table 5-2. Concentrations of plasmid pEX18Tc standard series with QIAPrep Spin MiniPrep Kitand anticipated experimental log reduction concentrations of pEX18Tc
Table 5-3. Concentrations of plasmid pEX18Tc standard series with ZymoPURE II PlasmidMaxiPrep Kit and anticipated experimental log reduction concentrations of pEX18Tc75
Table 5-4. Melt temperature and cycle threshold (Ct) results for the live and autoclaved algae background matrices for both the short and long amplicon primers. Samples that contained plasmid had a plasmid concentration of 6.132 ng/µL

# **Definition of Acronyms**

ALE	Adaptive Laboratory Evolution
ARB	Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria
ARG	Antibiotic Resistance Gene
CFU	Colony Forming Units
CIP	Ciprofloxacin
CS	Ciprofloxacin Standard
DC	Dark Control
EA	Experimental Algae
EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
gyrA	DNA gyrase subunit A
HPLC	High Pressure Liquid Chromatography
LB	Lysogeny Broth
LC	Light Control
MB3N	Modified Bold 3N Medium
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
OD	Optical Density
parC	Topoisomerase IV
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
qPCR	Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
QRDR	Quinolone Resistance Determining Region
SPE	Solid Phase Extraction
tet	Plasmid pEX18Tc resistance gene encoding tetracycline resistance
WWTP	Wastewater Treatment Plant

### **Related Publications, Presentations, and Awards**

### Manuscripts

- Grimes, K., Dunphy, L., Kolling, G., Papin, J., Colosi, L. (2020) "Assessing an algaebased treatment to deactivate a plasmid carrying tetracycline resistance." (*In preparation*)
- Grimes, K., Dunphy, L., Loudermilk, E., Melara, A., Kolling, G., Papin, J., Colosi, L. "Evaluating the efficacy of an algae-based treatment to mitigate elicitation of antibiotic resistance," *Chemosphere*. 2019, 237. 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124421
- Pruden, A., Alcalde, R., Alvarez, P., Ashbolt, N., Bischel, H., Capiro, N., Crossette, E., Frigon, D., Grimes, K., Haas, C., Ikuma, K., Kappell, A., LaPara, T., Kimbell, L., Li, M., Li, X., McNamara, P., Seo, Y., Sobsey, M., Sozzi, E., Navab-Daneshmand, T., Nguyen, T., Raskin, L., Riquelme, M., Vikesland, P., Wigginton, K., Zhou, Z. An Environmental Science and Engineering Framework for Combating Antimicrobial Resistance. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* 2018, 35 (10), 1005-1011. 10.1089/ees.2017.0520
- Zhang, X., Grimes, K., Colosi, L. M., Lung, W. Occurrence, Fate, Transport, and Management of Estrogens in the Environment: A Review. *Chemosphere*. 2019, 230, 462-478. 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.086

### Presentations

Podium

- Grimes, K. (2020) "Assessing an Algae Treatment to Mitigate Elicitation of Antibiotic Resistance" University of Virginia Engineering Systems and Environment Department Seminar (Virtual), Charlottesville, VA.
- Grimes, K. (2018) "Evaluation of integrated algae-wastewater treatment systems to remove antibiotics and reduce downstream antibiotic resistance", American Chemical Society National Meeting Spring 2018, New Orleans, LA.
- Grimes, K. (2018) "Evaluation of algae-mediated ciprofloxacin removal and effects on elicitation of antibiotic resistance" University of Virginia Civil & Environmental Engineering Department Seminar, Charlottesville, VA.
- Grimes, K. (2017) "Integrated Algae-WWTP Systems Deliver Enhanced Nutrient Removal and Energy: Can they Also Reduce Downstream Antibiotic Resistance?", University of Virginia Graduate Engineering Research Symposium (UVERS), Charlottesville, VA.

Poster

- **Grimes, K.** (2018) "Evaluation of a sustainable wastewater treatment technology to mediate reduction in environmental antibiotic resistance", Averting the Post-Antibiotic Era conference, Novo Nordisk, Copenhagen, DK.
- Grimes, K. (2017) "Integrated Algae-WWTP Systems: Using *S. Dimorphus* to Remove Ciprofloxacin as a Means to Mitigate Downstream Antibiotic Resistance", AEESP 2017 Conference, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.
- Grimes, K. (2016) "Navigating the Water-Energy Nexus Integrated Algae Systems Simultaneously Deliver Clean Water and Clean Energy", University of Virginia Graduate Engineering Research Symposium (UVERS), University of Virginia, Charlottesville, VA.

### Awards and Fellowships

- Environmental Defense Fund (EDF) Climate Corps Fellow (Summer 2020)
- Graduate Assistance in Areas of National Need (GAANN) Fellow (2019-2020)
- Christine Mirzayan Science and Technology Policy Fellow (Spring 2019)
- Regional nominee for the Philanthropic Educational Organization (P.E.O.) Scholar Award (Fall 2018)
- National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellow (2016 2019)
- PhD Poster Award: Averting the Post-Antibiotic Era conference, Novo Nordisk (Copenhagen, DK) (Fall 2018)
- Travel grant awardee: Averting the Post-Antibiotic Era conference, Novo Nordisk (Copenhagen, DK) (Fall 2018)
- Association of Environmental Engineering and Science Professors (AEESP) Conference Stantec Student Scholarship Award (Summer 2017)
- University of Virginia Engineering Research Symposium, 3<sup>rd</sup> place oral presentation (Spring 2017)
- University of Virginia Engineering Research Symposium, 5<sup>th</sup> place poster presentation (Spring 2016)

## Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

#### 1.1 Motivation, Background, and Literature Review

#### 1.1.1 Overview of the global threat of antibiotic resistance

Antibiotic resistance and the ensuing evolution of antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) or "superbugs" is becoming an issue of global proportions. In the United States alone, over 249 million courses of antibiotics are prescribed each year and at least 47 million are prescribed unnecessarily (CDC, 2018). Many antibiotics are highly stable compounds that are not fully broken down by the body, so they remain active long after they are excreted or when incomplete doses are improperly disposed of. As a result of anthropogenic pressures, antibiotic compounds and ARB are detected in environmental hotspots around the world (Berendonk et al., 2015; Scott et al., 2016). This overabundance of antibiotics from medical, agricultural, and veterinary use, combined with the natural rapid evolutionary processes of bacteria, have sped up the rate at which bacteria develop resistance and increased the risk of contracting antibiotic resistant infections. As a result, more than 2.8 million antibiotic resistant infections resulting in more than 35,000 deaths occur each year in the United States (CDC, 2019). In order to save lives and preserve the efficacy of our valuable antibiotic fleet, we need a concerted interdisciplinary effort to curb the spread of antibiotic resistance not only in medical practice, but in environmental systems as well.

### 1.1.2 The role of wastewater treatment plants in antibiotic resistance

Antibiotics are currently unregulated in water and wastewater, but they are a particularly concerning class of environmental contaminants due to their biological potency and the risk of inadvertently promoting antibiotic resistance in downstream microbial communities. Significant fractions of each dose (up to 90%) remain unmetabolized and are excreted into the sewage collection system, thereby making their way to municipal wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) (Tiwari et al., 2017). In addition to the lack of regulations, typical WWTP processes in the United States and Europe do not have the capacity to fully remove antibiotics before they are released into receiving waters. Activated sludge treatment is the most widely used wastewater treatment process around the world, but studies have proven the process to be ineffective at degrading most antibiotic compounds (Noguera-Oviedo and Aga, 2016). Further, some studies have found anaerobic/anoxic wastewater system conditions to be equally inefficient at reducing antibiotic concentrations. For example, Liu et al. 2013 analyzed the degradation of the antibiotic ciprofloxacin (CIP) under anaerobic/anoxic wastewater conditions and found little to no degradation of the antibiotic under either methanogenic or denitrifying conditions (Liu et al., 2013). Accordingly, many drugs of interest have been measured at appreciable concentrations (ng/L - mg/L) in WWTP effluents and in downstream receiving waters (Andreozzi et al., 2004; Ben et al., 2018; Golet et al., 2002; Hughes et al., 2012; Janecko et al., 2016; Li et al., 2010; Noguera-Oviedo and Aga, 2016; Tiwari et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2017b). The presence of antibiotics in WWTP effluents is notable, as sustained exposure to low concentrations of antibiotics can elicit resistance in microbial organisms, including human pathogens (Gullberg et al., 2011; Li et al., 2010; Lupan et al., 2017). The environmental engineering community postulates that WWTPs "may represent a critical node for control of the global spread of antibiotic resistance" (Pruden et al., 2013) and seeks technologies

to remove constituents in the effluent that may contribute to antibiotic resistance stimulation in receiving waters.

In addition to the untreated parent drug and its principal metabolites, WWTP effluents contain other constituents that may stimulate antibiotic resistance in the environment; namely, ARB and their antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) (Marti et al., 2013). From literature, ARB and ARGs flow into WWTPs via the influent (e.g., in hospital sewage) and can also be preferentially selected during the course of biological treatment as a result of ongoing selective pressure (i.e., the presence of antibiotics) (Costanzo et al., 2005; Dodd, 2012; Guo et al., 2017; Hultman et al., 2018; Karkman et al., 2017; Murray et al., 2018; Pruden, 2014; Quach-Cu et al., 2018; Rizzo et al., 2013). Within WWTPs and downstream receiving waters, ARGs can proliferate vertically through bacteria replication; i.e., one resistant organism passes down the resistance feature through multiple generations of the same lineage. ARGs can also be shared between bacteria of the same or different species horizontally via a process known as horizontal gene transfer. Antibiotic resistance originating in one bacteria species can spread to many other species, including nonpathogenic and pathogenic strains, via these horizontal gene transfer processes, which is a major contributor to widespread antibiotic resistance (von Wintersdorff et al., 2016).

Recent studies in Romania, the Netherlands, and China have detected antibiotics and ARGs in rivers up to 20 km downstream from WWTPs (Li et al., 2010; Lupan et al., 2017; Sabri et al., 2020). In designing our experiments for this dissertation, we presumed that ARB are more or less equally susceptible to traditional disinfection treatments as compared to non-resistant bacteria (Dodd, 2012). Accordingly, we expected that effluents do not typically contain appreciable quantities of viable ARB. However, it is uncertain to what extent traditional disinfection treatments deactivate genetic materials conferring antibiotic resistance. For this reason, it is still of concern

that ARG may be present in the effluent, either within dead ARB (i.e., in an intracellular form) or in a free-floating, extracellular form (Chang et al., 2017; Dodd, 2012; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Yoon et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019).

#### 1.1.3 Integrated algae-wastewater treatment systems: a potential solution?

WWTPs are increasingly expected to deliver effluents free from traditional regulated contaminants (e.g., biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total suspended solids (TSS), etc.) and also unregulated "emerging contaminants" such as antibiotics, estrogens, and personal care products. Simultaneously, there is a strong desire to reduce the energy intensity and greenhouse gas footprint associated with conventional treatment (Batstone et al., 2015; McCarty et al., 2011; Melvin and Leusch, 2016). It has been suggested that integration of traditional wastewater treatment and algaculture could deliver enhanced effluent quality with reduced energy consumption compared to conventional tertiary treatments (Batstone et al., 2015; Colosi et al., 2015; McCarty et al., 2011; Melvin and Leusch, 2016; Salama et al., 2017). Bench-scale experiments have shown that freshwater microalgae deliver efficient removal of aqueous nutrients (i.e., nitrogen and phosphorus) that would otherwise contribute to downstream eutrophication as well as certain emerging contaminants (e.g., steroid hormones) (Ge et al., 2009; Shi et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2014).

The idea of an integrated algae-wastewater treatment system has been conceptualized as a tertiary treatment method to improve wastewater treatment through enhanced removal of nitrogen and phosphorus while also generating energy through anaerobic digestion of biosolids to produce bio-electricity (Colosi et al., 2015; Menger-Krug et al., 2012). Colosi et al., 2015 performed a life cycle assessment of traditional tertiary WWTP systems compared with an algae treatment system

and compared them on the basis of energy efficiency using the energy return on investment (EROI) metric, which is the ratio of energy produced over energy consumed. EROI values less than 1 indicate systems that are net energy-consuming. Higher values are more energetically favorable than lower values. They computed EROI for the hypothetical algae treatment system to be 0.65, compared to values of 0.47, 0.24, and 0.35 for selected traditional tertiary treatments. A baseline WWTP configuration without tertiary treatment exhibited EROI of 0.50 (Colosi et al., 2015). Therefore, Colosi et al., 2015 showed the capability of an integrated algae-wastewater treatment system to benefit a WWTP from an energy perspective. Additional studies have taken this concept further and have investigated the potential for an integrated algae-wastewater treatment system to also remove unregulated contaminants. Zhang et al., 2014 performed an analysis on the ability of Scenedesmus dimorphus to degrade steroid estrogens and observed removals of 85-95% for the four estrogens studied. Matamoros et al., 2015 evaluated the degradation of 26 micro-contaminants in a pilot-scale microalgae-WWTP system. The pilot scale system achieved removal efficiencies of up to 90% for the compounds assessed (Matamoros et al., 2015). A schematic of the integrated algae-WWTP system, including potential emerging contaminant removal benefits, is presented in Figure 1-1.



**Figure 1-1.** Diagram of an integrated algae-WWTP system including both nutrient and unregulated contaminant removals and energy generation from methane-derived electricity (Zhang et al., 2014).

Photodegradation, or photolysis, involves transformation of a molecule resulting from light exposure (most commonly solar or UV light). Many antibiotics and ARGs are considered susceptible to photodegradation, so understanding the reaction mechanisms and conditions for photo-transformation to occur is a major step in the process of developing technologies to successfully remove them (Chee-Sanford et al., 2009; Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Homem and Santos, 2011; Paul et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2019). In a traditional WWTP setting, the combination of high solids content and low light exposure relative to reactor volume makes substantial photodegradation unlikely to occur (Norvill et al., 2016). However, with the addition of an algae tertiary treatment system, WWTP effluents have the opportunity to gain significant exposure to light via circulation through a shallow, continuously mixed algae cultivation pond system.

The mechanism of photodegradation can be separated into two major reaction processes:

direct and indirect photolysis. In direct photolysis, photons are directly absorbed by the target molecule, which provides the energy to break down the chemical bonds and the compound's overall structure. The contribution of direct photolysis to overall photodegradation of a compound is dependent on many factors including light absorption of the compound, pH, temperature, and presence of other organic compounds in the system that may cause interference. Indirect photolysis occurs via oxidation of the target compound by radicals produced when photons excite other molecules in the system, known as photosensitizers (Norvill et al., 2016). Many common photosensitizers that can produce reactive radical species, such as organic acids, nitrate, and others are present in WWTP effluents. In an algae-WWTP system, both direct and indirect photolysis could play an important role in deactivating antibiotics and ARGs.

Incorporating an algae-based polishing step into a wastewater treatment process could deliver several environmental benefits: removal of nutrients, decreasing downstream eutrophication; production of algae biomass that can be converted into a carbon-neutral green energy source; and, potentially, mitigation of antibiotic resistance stimulating constituents.

#### 1.1.4 Review of studies on treatment of antibiotic resistance constituents and research gaps

Recent reviews by Xiong, et al. 2017a and Wang, et al. 2017 have synthesized the existing literature pertaining to antibiotics removal by several microalgae (Bai and Acharya, 2017; Hom-Diaz et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2017b, 2017a; Yu et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2014). These studies focus on algae-mediated treatment of antibiotic compounds under bench- and pilotscale conditions; however, an evaluation of how the treated effluents impact the stimulation of antibiotic resistance in the environment has not been previously performed. Evaluating the residual effects of treated effluents is especially important since studies have shown that reduction of a parent drug compound can produce byproducts that are equally or more potent than the parent (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Noguera-Oviedo and Aga, 2016). Further, there is currently no information about algae-mediated deactivation of ARGs. Some advanced tertiary treatments, such as UV, UV-chlorination, and ozonation have been shown to deactivate ARGs to varying degrees (Chang et al., 2017; Czekalski et al., 2016; Destiani and Templeton, 2019; He et al., 2019; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Quach-Cu et al., 2018; Yoon et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019). However, to the best of our knowledge, no one study has investigated the efficacy of a single treatment to remove an antibiotic parent compound, reduce its acute and chronic potency effects, and deactivate an ARG.

Figure 1-2 presents a schematic of the proposed algae treatment system and where it fits within the WWTP pathway and antibiotic resistance landscape. The goal of this dissertation is to evaluate the efficacy of the algae treatment in deactivating antibiotics and ARGs and examine its potential role in combatting the spread of antibiotic resistance from WWTPs.



**Figure 1-2.** The pathway for antibiotic resistance-stimulating constituents to enter the wastewater treatment system and disseminate through effluents into the environment. This dissertation seeks to evaluate the potential role of an algae treatment system in mitigating antibiotics and ARGs. The star symbol represents areas of the wastewater treatment system where ARB are selectively amplified through both vertical and horizontal gene transfer processes.

### **1.2 References**

- Andreozzi, R., Caprio, V., Ciniglia, C., de Champdoré, M., Lo Giudice, R., Marotta, R., Zuccato, E., 2004. Antibiotics in the Environment: Occurrence in Italian STPs, Fate, and Preliminary Assessment on Algal Toxicity of Amoxicillin. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 6832–6838. https://doi.org/10.1021/es049509a
- Bai, X., Acharya, K., 2017. Algae-mediated removal of selected pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) from Lake Mead water. Sci. Total Environ. 581–582, 734–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.192
- Batstone, D.J., Hülsen, T., Mehta, C.M., Keller, J., 2015. Platforms for energy and nutrient recovery from domestic wastewater: A review. Chemosphere, Wastewater-Energy Nexus: Towards Sustainable Wastewater Reclamation 140, 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.10.021
- Ben, W., Zhu, B., Yuan, X., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Qiang, Z., 2018. Occurrence, removal and risk of organic micropollutants in wastewater treatment plants across China: Comparison of wastewater treatment processes. Water Res. 130, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.11.057
- Berendonk, T.U., Manaia, C.M., Merlin, C., Fatta-Kassinos, D., Cytryn, E., Walsh, F., Bürgmann, H., Sørum, H., Norström, M., Pons, M.-N., Kreuzinger, N., Huovinen, P., Stefani, S., Schwartz, T., Kisand, V., Baquero, F., Martinez, J.L., 2015. Tackling antibiotic resistance: the environmental framework. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 13, 310–317. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3439
- CDC, 2019. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2019. Atlanta, GA. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:82532
- CDC, 2018. Outpatient Antibiotic Prescriptions United States, 2018.
- Chang, P.H., Juhrend, B., Olson, T.M., Marrs, C.F., Wigginton, K.R., 2017. Degradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes with UV254 Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 6185–6192. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01120
- Chee-Sanford, J.C., Mackie, R.I., Koike, S., Krapac, I.G., Lin, Y.-F., Yannarell, A.C., Maxwell, S., Aminov, R.I., 2009. Fate and Transport of Antibiotic Residues and Antibiotic Resistance Genes following Land Application of Manure Waste. J. Environ. Qual. 38, 1086–1108. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2008.0128
- Colosi, L.M., Resurreccion, E.P., Zhang, Y., 2015. Assessing the energy and environmental performance of algae-mediated tertiary treatment of estrogenic compounds. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 17, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00541D
- Costanzo, S.D., Murby, J., Bates, J., 2005. Ecosystem response to antibiotics entering the aquatic environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull., Catchment to Reef: Water Quality Issues in the Great Barrier Reef Region 51, 218–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.10.038

- Czekalski, N., Imminger, S., Salhi, E., Veljkovic, M., Kleffel, K., Drissner, D., Hammes, F., Bürgmann, H., von Gunten, U., 2016. Inactivation of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Resistance Genes by Ozone: From Laboratory Experiments to Full-Scale Wastewater Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 11862–11871. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02640
- Destiani, R., Templeton, M.R., 2019. Chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection of antibioticresistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water. AIMS Environ. Sci. 6, 222. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2019.3.222
- Dodd, M.C., 2012. Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation of antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. J. Environ. Monit. 14, 1754–1771. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2EM00006G
- Fatta-Kassinos, D., Vasquez, M.I., Kümmerer, K., 2011. Transformation products of pharmaceuticals in surface waters and wastewater formed during photolysis and advanced oxidation processes – Degradation, elucidation of byproducts and assessment of their biological potency. Chemosphere 85, 693–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.082
- Ge, L., Deng, H., Wu, F., Deng, N., 2009. Microalgae-promoted photodegradation of two endocrine disrupters in aqueous solutions. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 84, 331–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2043
- Golet, E.M., Alder, A.C., Giger, W., 2002. Environmental Exposure and Risk Assessment of Fluoroquinolone Antibacterial Agents in Wastewater and River Water of the Glatt Valley Watershed, Switzerland. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 3645–3651. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0256212
- Gullberg, E., Cao, S., Berg, O.G., Ilbäck, C., Sandegren, L., Hughes, D., Andersson, D.I., 2011. Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. PLOS Pathog. 7, e1002158. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002158
- Guo, J., Li, J., Chen, H., Bond, P.L., Yuan, Z., 2017. Metagenomic analysis reveals wastewater treatment plants as hotspots of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements. Water Res. 123, 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.002
- He, H., Zhou, P., Shimabuku, K.K., Fang, X., Li, S., Lee, Y., Dodd, M.C., 2019. Degradation and Deactivation of Bacterial Antibiotic Resistance Genes during Exposure to Free Chlorine, Monochloramine, Chlorine Dioxide, Ozone, Ultraviolet Light, and Hydroxyl Radical. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 2013–2026. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b04393
- Hom-Diaz, A., Jaén-Gil, A., Bello-Laserna, I., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Vicent, T., Barceló, D., Blánquez, P., 2017. Performance of a microalgal photobioreactor treating toilet wastewater: Pharmaceutically active compound removal and biomass harvesting. Sci. Total Environ. 592, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.224

- Homem, V., Santos, L., 2011. Degradation and removal methods of antibiotics from aqueous matrices A review. J. Environ. Manage. 92, 2304–2347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.05.023
- Hughes, S.R., Kay, P., Brown, L.E., 2012. Global Synthesis and Critical Evaluation of Pharmaceutical Data Sets Collected from River Systems.
- Hultman, J., Tamminen, M., Pärnänen, K., Cairns, J., Karkman, A., Virta, M., 2018. Host range of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater treatment plant influent and effluent. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 94. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy038
- Janecko, N., Pokludova, L., Blahova, J., Svobodova, Z., Literak, I., 2016. Implications of fluoroquinolone contamination for the aquatic environment—A review. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 2647–2656. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3552
- Karkman, A., Do, T.T., Walsh, F., Virta, M.P.J., 2017. Antibiotic-Resistance Genes in Waste Water. Trends Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2017.09.005
- Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., Qi, R., 2010. Antibiotic Resistance Characteristics of Environmental Bacteria from an Oxytetracycline Production Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Receiving River. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 3444–3451. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02964-09
- Liu, Z., Sun, P., Pavlostathis, S.G., Zhou, X., Zhang, Y., 2013. Inhibitory effects and biotransformation potential of ciprofloxacin under anoxic/anaerobic conditions. Bioresour. Technol. 150, 28–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.09.125
- Lupan, I., Carpa, R., Oltean, A., Kelemen, B.S., Popescu, O., 2017. Release of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria by a Waste Treatment Plant from Romania. Microbes Environ. 32, 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.ME17016
- Marti, E., Jofre, J., Balcazar, J.L., 2013. Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Bacterial Community Composition in a River Influenced by a Wastewater Treatment Plant. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078906
- Matamoros, V., Gutiérrez, R., Ferrer, I., García, J., Bayona, J.M., 2015. Capability of microalgaebased wastewater treatment systems to remove emerging organic contaminants: A pilot-scale study. J. Hazard. Mater. 288, 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.02.002
- McCarty, P.L., Bae, J., Kim, J., 2011. Domestic Wastewater Treatment as a Net Energy Producer– Can This be Achieved? Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7100–7106. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2014264
- McKinney, C.W., Pruden, A., 2012. Ultraviolet Disinfection of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Their Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Water and Wastewater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 13393–13400. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303652q

- Melvin, S.D., Leusch, F.D.L., 2016. Removal of trace organic contaminants from domestic wastewater: A meta-analysis comparison of sewage treatment technologies. Environ. Int. 92– 93, 183–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.031
- Menger-Krug, E., Niederste-Hollenberg, J., Hillenbrand, T., Hiessl, H., 2012. Integration of Microalgae Systems at Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants: Implications for Energy and Emission Balances. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 11505–11514. https://doi.org/10.1021/es301967y
- Murray, A.K., Zhang, L., Yin, X., Zhang, T., Buckling, A., Snape, J., Gaze, W.H., 2018. Novel Insights into Selection for Antibiotic Resistance in Complex Microbial Communities. MBio 9, e00969-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00969-18
- Noguera-Oviedo, K., Aga, D.S., 2016. Lessons learned from more than two decades of research on emerging contaminants in the environment. J. Hazard. Mater. 316, 242–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058
- Norvill, Z.N., Shilton, A., Guieysse, B., 2016. Emerging contaminant degradation and removal in algal wastewater treatment ponds: Identifying the research gaps. J. Hazard. Mater. 313, 291–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.03.085
- Paul, T., Dodd, M.C., Strathmann, T.J., 2010. Photolytic and photocatalytic decomposition of aqueous ciprofloxacin: Transformation products and residual antibacterial activity. Water Res. 44, 3121–3132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.03.002
- Pruden, A., 2014. Balancing Water Sustainability and Public Health Goals in the Face of Growing Concerns about Antibiotic Resistance. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1021/es403883p
- Pruden, A., Larsson, D.G.J., Amézquita, A., Collignon, P., Brandt, K.K., Graham, D.W., Lazorchak, J.M., Suzuki, S., Silley, P., Snape, J.R., Topp, E., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y.-G., 2013. Environmental Health Perspectives – Management Options for Reducing the Release of Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance Genes to the Environment 121, 878–885. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206446
- Quach-Cu, J., Herrera-Lynch, B., Adams, S., Simmerman, A., Reinke, R.A., Marciniak, C., 2018. The Effect of Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary Wastewater Treatment Processes on Antibiotic Resistance Gene (ARG) Concentrations in Solid and Dissolved Wastewater Fractions. Water (20734441) 10, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10010037
- Rizzo, L., Manaia, C., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Ploy, M.C., Michael, I., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2013. Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the environment: A review. Sci. Total Environ. 447, 345–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.032

- Sabri, N.A., Schmitt, H., Van Der Zaan, B., Gerritsen, H.W., Zuidema, T., Rijnaarts, H.H.M., Langenhoff, A.A.M., 2020. Prevalence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in a wastewater effluent-receiving river in the Netherlands. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 8, 102245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2018.03.004
- Salama, E.-S., Kurade, M.B., Abou-Shanab, R.A.I., El-Dalatony, M.M., Yang, I.-S., Min, B., Jeon, B.-H., 2017. Recent progress in microalgal biomass production coupled with wastewater treatment for biofuel generation. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 79, 1189–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.091
- Scott, G.I., Porter, D.E., Norman, R.S., Scott, C.H., Uyaguari-Diaz, M.I., Maruya, K.A., Weisberg, S.B., Fulton, M.H., Wirth, E.F., Moore, J., Pennington, P.L., Schlenk, D., Cobb, G.P., Denslow, N.D., 2016. Antibiotics as CECs: An Overview of the Hazards Posed by Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance. Front. Mar. Sci. 3, 24. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00024
- Shi, W., Wang, L., Rousseau, D.P.L., Lens, P.N.L., 2010. Removal of estrone, 17αethinylestradiol, and 17β-estradiol in algae and duckweed-based wastewater treatment systems. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 17, 824–833. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0301-7
- Tiwari, B., Sellamuthu, B., Ouarda, Y., Drogui, P., Tyagi, R.D., Buelna, G., 2017. Review on fate and mechanism of removal of pharmaceutical pollutants from wastewater using biological approach. Bioresour. Technol. 224, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.11.042
- von Wintersdorff, C.J.H., Penders, J., van Niekerk, J.M., Mills, N.D., Majumder, S., van Alphen, L.B., Savelkoul, P.H.M., Wolffs, P.F.G., 2016. Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. Front. Microbiol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173
- Wang, Y., Liu, J., Kang, D., Wu, C., Wu, Y., 2017. Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products from wastewater using algae-based technologies: a review. Rev. Environ. Sci. Bio/Technology 16, 717–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-017-9446-x
- Xiong, J.-Q., Kurade, M.B., Jeon, B.-H., 2017a. Can Microalgae Remove Pharmaceutical Contaminants from Water? Trends Biotechnol. 0. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.09.003
- Xiong, J.-Q., Kurade, M.B., Kim, J.R., Roh, H.-S., Jeon, B.-H., 2017b. Ciprofloxacin toxicity and its co-metabolic removal by a freshwater microalga Chlamydomonas mexicana. J. Hazard. Mater., Special Issue on Emerging Contaminants in engineered and natural environment 323, 212–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.073
- Yoon, Y., Chung, H.J., Wen Di, D.Y., Dodd, M.C., Hur, H.-G., Lee, Y., 2017. Inactivation efficiency of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with chlorine, UV, and UV/H2O2. Water Res. 123, 783–793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.056

- Yu, Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, Z., Torres, O.L., Guo, R., Chen, J., 2017. Investigation of the removal mechanism of antibiotic ceftazidime by green algae and subsequent microbic impact assessment. Sci. Rep. 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04128-3
- Zhang, X., Li, J., Fan, W.-Y., Yao, M.-C., Yuan, L., Sheng, G.-P., 2019. Enhanced Photodegradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes by Dissolved Organic Matter Photosensitization. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 10732–10740. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03096
- Zhang, Y., Habteselassie, M.Y., Resurreccion, E.P., Mantripragada, V., Peng, S., Bauer, S., Colosi, L.M., 2014. Evaluating removal of steroid estrogens by a model alga as a possible sustainability benefit of hypothetical integrated algae cultivation and wastewater treatment systems. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2, 2544–2553. https://doi.org/10.1021/sc5004538
- Zhou, G.-J., Ying, G.-G., Liu, S., Zhou, L.-J., Chen, Z.-F., Peng, F.-Q., 2014. Simultaneous removal of inorganic and organic compounds in wastewater by freshwater green microalgae. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 16, 2018–2027. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00094C

## Chapter 2: Research Objectives

The overall goal of this dissertation is to evaluate the efficacy of a model algae-based tertiary wastewater treatment toward mitigation of wastewater constituents that can stimulate antibiotic resistance in downstream receiving waters. Our first step is to evaluate removal of a model antibiotic parent drug compound and assay corresponding potency/resistance effects of the resulting effluents. Our second step is to treat a model antibiotic resistance gene (ARG) and evaluate corresponding losses in ARG reactivity. For both steps, we perform bench-scale algae treatment experiments with subsequent effluent analysis and microbiological assays. We hypothesize that the algae treatment will reduce the capacity of these effluent constituents to stimulate antibiotic resistance in model downstream bacteria. Collectively, our analyses establish a comprehensive *effects-based assessment* of the algae treatment toward mitigating wastewater constituents that stimulate antibiotic resistance. This approach is useful for assessing the usefulness of other candidate treatment technologies.

Specifically, this dissertation has two key research objectives:

- *Objective 1.* Evaluating the algae treatment for removal of a model antibiotic and its residual effect(s)
- Objective 2. Evaluating the algae treatment for deactivation of a model ARG plasmid

In-depth analyses for Objectives 1 and 2 are presented in dissertation Chapters 3, 4, and 5. Contextualization and thematic conclusions are presented in Chapter 6. The overall project conclusions and future research recommendations are discussed in Chapter 7.

Figure 2-1illustrates how the methodology and findings for both objectives complement each other and together constitute a holistic effects-based framework for assessments of a wastewater treatment's capacity to remove not only target constituents, but also their effects in stimulating antibiotic resistance in the environment.



Figure 2-1. The research goals for objectives 1 and 2 illustrate a holistic effects-based assessment

framework that can be adapted to evaluate other candidate wastewater treatments.

# Chapter 3: Objective 1, Algae Treatment of Antibiotic

This chapter resulted in one publication in Chemosphere.

Grimes, K. L., Dunphy, L. J., Loudermilk, E. M., Melara, A. J., Kolling, G. L., Papin, J. A., Colosi, L. M. "Evaluating the efficacy of an algae-based treatment to mitigate elicitation of antibiotic resistance," *Chemosphere*. **2019**, **237**. 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124421



#### **3.1 Introduction**

The fluoroquinolone drug ciprofloxacin (CIP) is one of the most frequently prescribed broad-spectrum antibiotic drugs for human and veterinary use, accounting for 20 million prescriptions each year ("Drug Record Ciprofloxacin"). It has been measured at  $ng/L - \mu g/L$  concentrations in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) and downstream receiving waters (Janecko et al., 2016). The concentration of CIP in WWTP influents and effluents is highly dependent on location, wastewater source (e.g., hospital waste, livestock waste, domestic waste, etc.), and the type of treatment process. As a result of these and other processes, the global median concentration of CIP in freshwater ecosystems is 0.164 mg/L, with a maximum detected concentration of 6.5 mg/L (Hughes et al., 2012; Xiong et al., 2017b).

There is emerging interest in algae-mediated biological treatment of antibiotic drugs because unlike bacteria, eukaryotes are not the intended target of antibacterial drugs. Recent reviews by Xiong et al. (2017a) and Wang et al. (2017) offer good syntheses of experimental results pertaining to antibiotics removal by several microalgae species (Bai and Acharya, 2017; Hom-Diaz et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2017b; Yu et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2014). This body of work reveals that algae can remove certain antibiotic compounds under bench- and pilot-scale conditions; however, it is almost entirely unknown how the treatment affects the long-term antibiotic potency of the resulting treated effluents. This is a question of interest not only for the proposed algae treatment but also for conventional treatments (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Paul et al., 2010).

We investigated algae-mediated CIP removal with three key objectives: (1) evaluate CIP concentration over time under simulated algae treatment conditions; (2) evaluate the residual antibiotic potency of algae-treated samples during acute exposures to a model bacterium; and (3)

evaluate the residual capacity of algae-treated samples to elicit genetically transmissible CIP resistance, using adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE). ALE is a technique for assessing evolutionary changes in microbial communities in a controlled laboratory environment (Dragosits and Mattanovich, 2013; Yen and Papin, 2017). It is often used to understand the adaptive changes that develop from long-term exposure to selective pressures; however, it has not been widely used for environmental engineering applications. In this study, we use ALE to evaluate adaptation of *E. coli* lineages cultivated in treated or untreated CIP samples and assess development of antibiotic resistance over time, as quantified using minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). The MIC is the lowest concentration of an antibiotic that prevents growth of bacteria. The three objectives of this study support a larger overarching goal of evaluating to what extent wastewater treatments can remove a parent drug compound with corresponding reductions in residual antibiotic potency and capacity to elicit transmissible antibiotic resistance.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.2.1 Algae-mediated Removal of CIP

#### 3.2.1.1 Algae Cultivation

We selected *Scenedesmus dimorphus* as our model alga for this study because it is an abundant species in temperate freshwater environments (Zhang et al., 2014) and has potential relevance for use in integrated algae-WWTP applications (González et al., 1997; Pushpakumari Kudahettige et al., 2018). We prepared pure cultures of *S. dimorphus* (UTEX 1237) based on a three-step procedure from previously published work (Zhang et al., 2014). See Chapter 4, Section 4.1 for more details.

#### 3.2.1.2 CIP Removal Experiments

We prepared two sets of 500-mL reactors containing 25  $\mu$ g/L of CIP in modified Bold 3N medium (MB3N), namely: 1) an experimental algae control (EA), which comprised CIP-spiked medium with 50 mg/L algae biomass, exposed to light; and, 2) a light control (LC), comprising CIP-spiked medium without algae and exposed to light. Reactors were cultivated under stirring, aeration, and 12 h of illumination per day (cool white full-spectrum fluorescent growth lamp with 125 W 6500 K, 30  $\mu$ W/cm<sup>2</sup> UV penetration) for a period of 144 h. We also prepared dark control (DC) reactors, which contained CIP-spiked medium without algae under the same stirring and aeration conditions. The DC reactors were wrapped in foil to prevent light penetration. They comprised positive controls, to rule out apparent CIP removal in the absence of light and/or algae. All conditions (EA, LC, DC) were tested in triplicate. The 25  $\mu$ g/L initial CIP concentration was selected because it is consistent with CIP measurements in WWTPs and the environment (Janecko et al., 2016). We observed that this CIP concentration did not have any appreciable effect on algae growth rate in preliminary growth experiments (Chapter 4, Section 4.1.1.2).

We collected 10-mL samples from the EA and LC reactors at 0, 6, 24, 48, 96, and 144 h. We assessed optical density at 662 nm ( $OD_{662}$ ) to quantify algae biomass concentrations in the EA samples and then filtered them through 0.7-µm pore size glass microfiber filters (Millipore) to remove algae cells. We then applied a solid phase extraction (SPE) procedure modified from validated methods (Zhang et al., 2014; Zhou and Jiang, 2012) to concentrate the CIP in our samples and remove compounds in the media that interfere with CIP analysis (Chapter 4, Section 4.1.2).

We also applied two previously validated approaches to assess sorption of CIP to the algae biomass (Chapter 4, Section 4.1.3) (Wu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014).

#### 3.2.1.3 Analytical Methods

We measured CIP concentrations via high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) based on previously validated methods using a Shimadzu 2010-AB HPLC with fluorescence and UV detectors (Idowu and Peggins, 2004; Lee et al., 2007; Muchohi et al., 2011; Piñero et al., 2013). Chapter 4, Section 4.1.4 provides details of the HPLC method as well as a representative chromatogram and calibration information.

#### 3.2.2 Assessment of Residual Antibiotic Potency

### 3.2.2.1 Chemicals, Medium, and Inoculum Preparation

We analyzed the effects of treated CIP samples on *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922<sup>TM</sup>, a model Gram-negative bacterium. See Chapter 4, Section 4.2 for details about the *E. coli* preparation.

#### 3.2.2.2 Assessment of Residual Acute Antibiotic Potency

We used a modified protocol from Paul et al. (2010) to assess residual antibiotic potency of the treated CIP solutions. We exposed *E. coli* to algae-treated (EA) and light control (LC) effluents collected at 144 hours (without subsequent SPE). We performed this assay in clear, flatbottom 96-well plates. For reproducibility, we used three wells per experimental replicate. Each well received filter-sterilized (0.22-nm pore size) EA or LC post-treatment samples or a 25- $\mu$ g/L untreated CIP standard (CS), each supplemented with concentrated LB media to support culture growth (Chapter 4, Table 4-1). We then added 25  $\mu$ L of the 1:1000 diluted *E. coli* stock to each well. One row solely contained MB3N media and 25  $\mu$ L of the 1:1000 diluted *E. coli* stock to represent maximum growth of *E. coli* in the absence of CIP. Another row contained only MB3N without *E. coli* to represent no growth. All wells contained a total volume of 200  $\mu$ L.

After loading the wells, we covered the plate with its lid to prevent evaporation and incubated it at 37 °C with 160-rpm shaking. We used a spectrophotometer (SpectraMax Plus 384) to measure  $OD_{625}$  to quantify *E. coli* growth over time until stationary phase (6 hours). We then used Equation 3-1, modified from Paul et al. (2010), to determine percent relative growth in the presence of EA samples, LC samples, or untreated CS relative to the media control.

Equation 3-1. R.G. (%) = 
$$\frac{(A-A_{min})}{(A_{max}-A_{min})} * 100\%$$

R.G.(%) is percent relative growth; A is sample absorbance at  $OD_{625}$  after 6 hours of incubation;  $A_{min}$  = absorbance of an abiotic negative control comprising LB with no bacteria and no CIP (i.e., 0% growth);  $A_{max}$  = absorbance of a positive control corresponding to bacterial growth in LB with no CIP (i.e., 100% growth) (Paul et al., 2010). We used Microsoft Excel (2016) to compute *p*-values using two-sample student's *t*-tests for differences in mean assuming equal variances. Significance was established at *p* < 0.05.

#### 3.2.3 Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance

#### 3.2.3.1 Chemicals, Medium, and Inoculum

We purchased a fresh stock of *E. coli* ATCC 25922<sup>™</sup> from Microbiologics<sup>™</sup> and prepared experimental cultures according to the Microbiologics<sup>™</sup> Kwik-Stik<sup>™</sup> instructions. We filter-sterilized 4.5-mL aliquots of 144-hour treated EA samples, LC samples, and various control media
and froze them at -20 °C. EA and LC treated samples were not subject to SPE before freezing. We thawed and used individual aliquots once per day over the course of the ALE experiment.

#### 3.2.3.2 ALE-based Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance

We exposed *E. coli* to EA and LC samples over many generations to assess whether or not the bacteria would exhibit changed CIP resistance compared to relevant controls. Resistance was quantified via changes in MIC (Yen and Papin, 2017). Our exposure conditions were as follows: 1) EA samples (collected at t = 144 hours); 2) LC samples (collected at t = 144 hours); 3) untreated 25- $\mu$ g/L CIP standard (CS) in MB3N; 4) algae media control, comprising spent media collected at t = 144 hours from reactors containing algae in MB3N without CIP, with subsequent filtersterilization to remove algae cells; and 5) LB media control, comprising fresh LB media without CIP. We simultaneously exposed *E. coli* to each of these five conditions in triplicate, such that fifteen parallel cultures were maintained concurrently. These fifteen cultures were subjected daily to three protocols: 1) propagation into fresh exposure media; 2) MIC plating to assess changes in CIP resistance; and 3) collection of samples for freezer storage. We performed all three procedures daily for ten days; except MIC plating was omitted on days seven and nine for convenience.

We began by streaking a thawed stock culture of *E. coli* onto an LB agar plate and incubating it for 23 hours at 37 °C. We then inoculated three single colonies into 5 mL of LB and incubated these for 23 hours at 37 °C with 160-rpm shaking. We denoted these three cultures as Day-0 ancestors 1, 2, and 3. For culture propagation into fresh exposure media, we diluted the three Day-0 ancestor cultures by a factor of 111 to achieve  $OD_{600}$  values of approximately 0.01 in 5 mL of a fresh test solution: EA, LC, untreated CS, algae media control, or LB media control. Each solution was supplemented with concentrated LB nutrients to support *E. coli* growth. The

corresponding cell concentration was approximately 10<sup>7</sup> CFU/mL. Triplicate lineages were propagated for each exposure solution, each arising from a separate Day-0 ancestor. We incubated the resulting fifteen cultures for approximately 23 hours at 37 °C with 160-rpm shaking. The samples were collected at the same time each day and the 23 hours excludes approximately one hour of daily preparation time when samples were on the bench prior to incubation. We repeated this procedure daily for 10 days, or ~80 generations (Chapter 4, Section 4.3.1).

For the MIC assessments, we diluted each lineage by a factor of 111 to achieve an  $OD_{600}$  value of approximately 0.01 in 20 mL of fresh LB media. This value corresponded to approximately 10<sup>7</sup> CFU/mL. We then transferred the diluted lineages into a 96-well MIC plate containing a standard 2-fold dilution series spanning the range 0-4 µg/mL CIP (Andrews, 2001; Yen and Papin, 2017). From the literature, this range encompasses sub-inhibitory to much greater than inhibitory levels for wild-type *E. coli* (Chapter 4, Table 4-3) (Andrews, 2001; Becnel Boyd et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2014). We also included wells for sterility control (LB media only) on all MIC plates. We enclosed the plates in rigid containers to prevent evaporation and incubated them at 37 °C with 140-rpm shaking. After 23 hours, we quantified MIC values based on visual observation. We confirmed these results using a plate reader, parameterizing "growth" as  $OD_{600} > 0.2$  after background subtraction. The MIC value for each exposure condition was operationally defined as the lowest CIP concentration that did not show *E. coli* growth each day. We ended the experiment after ten days, when the apparent MIC values had stabilized across all fifteen lineages.

We froze samples of all fifteen lineages daily in 25% glycerol. We did this as a means to guard against accidental cross-culture or MIC plate contamination and enable future genotype evaluation of the samples (Chapter 4, Section 4.3.5).

#### 3.2.3.3 Characterizing Genotype Basis for Observed Phenotype CIP Resistance

Frozen samples of the Day-0 ancestors and Day-10 E. coli lineages propagated in EA, LC, or untreated CS were streaked onto LB agar plates and incubated overnight at 37 °C. Two colonies were selected from each lineage, one for each gene of interest: DNA gyrase subunit A (gyrA), and topoisomerase IV (parC). These genes were selected based on existing literature that shows they are commonly associated with increased CIP resistance in E. coli (Chung et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2012; Mavroidi et al., 2012; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed on each selected colony. Primers were designed using the NCBI primer BLAST tool for *E. coli* ATCC 25922<sup>TM</sup> (GenBank Accession Number: CP009072.1) (See Chapter 4, Table 4-4). DNA polymerase was One Tag<sup>®</sup> Hot Start 2X Master Mix with GC buffer, and PCR conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 30 seconds; 35 cycles of second denaturation at 94 °C for 30 seconds; annealing at 57 °C for 30 seconds, and extension at 68°C for 3 minutes; final extension at 68 °C for 5 minutes; and hold at 4 °C. Amplified DNA products were purified from a 1% agarose gel (Qiagen), and Sanger sequencing was performed by a contract laboratory (Eurofins). Sequences were aligned to the reference genome corresponding to E. coli ATCC 25922 and mutations were identified using BLASTn (NCBI). Based on literature, the so-called quinolone-resistance determining regions (QRDR) of gyrA and parC encode the amino acids that are most often the target of CIP (Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2012; Mavroidi et al., 2012; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). CIP resistance mutations can also occur in other gene regions (e.g., gyrB, parE, etc.) but these regions are less likely to develop mutations corresponding with a high MIC to CIP. The QRDR regions of gyrA and parC in E. coli typically encode codons 83-157 for gyrA and codons 56-84 for parC. Therefore, sequence data was assessed only if the QRDR were located in a high quality

region of the sequence (i.e., PHRED scores for each base pair > 50) and mutations were only reported if they resulted in a change of at least one amino acid.

# 3.3 Results and Discussion

#### 3.3.1 Algae-mediated CIP Removal

The overall goal of this study was to determine whether algae-based tertiary treatment mediates effective removal of the CIP parent compound with corresponding reduction in acute antibiotic potency and capacity to elicit transmissible antibiotic resistance among bacteria downstream. Our first step was measuring reduction in CIP concentration during algae treatment. Results are presented in Figure 3-1. These data reveal that the algae treatment achieves effective removal of the CIP parent compound from an initial concentration of 25  $\mu$ g/L. CIP removal was 53% for the light-exposed control (LC) reactors without algae biomass. CIP removal was even greater (93%) in illuminated reactors containing algae biomass (EA). Notably, most of the removal occurred within the first 48 hours for both sets of reactors. This duration corresponds with typical hydraulic retention times for some other WWTP processes.



**Figure 3-1.** Normalized (C/C<sub>0</sub>) concentrations of ciprofloxacin (CIP) over time for experimental algae (EA) and light control (LC) reactors over 144 hours. For dark control (DC) reactors, CIP concentration measurements were taken at hours 0 and 144. Normalized CIP concentrations refer to CIP concentrations at time = *t* divided by initial CIP concentration (C<sub>0</sub>), where  $C_0 = 25 \mu g/L$ . Error bars are standard error for triplicate reactors of each condition.

The results in Figure 3-1 are consistent with emerging literature related to algae-mediated removal of CIP and other antibiotics. For example Bai and Acharya (2017) observed 100% CIP removal from spiked lake water by *Nannochloris sp.* over seven days. Zhou et al. (2014) investigated removal of some fifty organic compounds, including various antibiotics, by four separate axenic algae cultures: *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Chlorella pyrenoidosa, Chlorella vulgaris,* and *Scenedesmus obliquus*. They reported approximately 80% CIP reduction over seven days by all evaluated algae strains. They also observed comparable removals (50-80%) for several other fluoroquinolone drugs (e.g., enrofloxacin, lomefloxacin, norfloxacin, and ofloxacin).

Notably, they observed relatively uniform performances across all four evaluated algae cultures, which suggests that removal results may be somewhat generalizable across various algae strains for a specific drug of interest. Finally, Hom-Diaz et al. (2017) evaluated removal of diverse pharmaceuticals by an uncharacterized mixture of algae species inoculated from lake water. They observed CIP removal of approximately 50% over eight- or twelve-day durations.

We hypothesized that removal of CIP by different mechanisms could mediate different impacts on residual antibiotic potency and elicitation of transmissible microbial resistance. We therefore conducted a qualitative evaluation of CIP removal via several possible mechanisms. We evaluated CIP sorption to algae using two approaches (Chapter 4, Section 4.1.3). We observed negligible contribution of sorption using either of these protocols, which is consistent with the findings of Bai and Acharya (2017), who reported that CIP was not detectable in algae lipid extracts. Similarly, we used light-exposed control (LC) reactors to isolate abiotic phototransformation in the absence of algae biomass. These analyses revealed that direct phototransformation mediates significant reduction in CIP concentration but that overall CIP removal is appreciably greater in the presence of active algae biomass. This result indicates that the difference in CIP removal for reactors with and without active algae biomass must be attributable to some effect of the algae itself. For example, the algae cells may be actively metabolizing the CIP molecules in a manner that is consistent with "co-metabolism" reported by Xiong et al. (2017b). Concurrently, growth of the algae may create conditions that enhance CIP photo-transformation; e.g., by releasing algal organic matter (AOM) and/or increasing the dissolved oxygen concentration. These effects have been well documented in existing literature (Bai and Acharya, 2017; Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Guo, Ruixin and Chen, Jianqu, 2015). We cannot conclusively identify the exact mechanisms by which the presence of the algae enhances overall reduction in

CIP concentration; therefore, this would be a valuable direction for future work. Finally, our results from the dark control reactors confirm that reduction in CIP concentration is not occurring via experimental artifacts (e.g., volatilization, sorption to reactor walls, etc). The measured CIP concentration in the dark control reactors at t = 144 hours was  $100 \pm 5\%$  of the initial concentration.

With respect to how different removal mechanisms could affect residual sample potency, it is noteworthy that sorption plays an apparently negligible role in algae-mediated CIP removal. This process is undesirable for antibiotics because there is no change to the compound's intrinsic biological potency and its capacity to elicit antibiotic resistance. In contrast, both biotransformation and photo-transformation could convert a parent compound into products with different capacities to elicit antibiotic resistance (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2017). It may be significant that most of our observed algae-mediated removal occurs via chemical transformations and that the treated samples likely contain a mixture of photo-products and biological metabolites. Existing literature confirms that CIP is susceptible to photo-transformation under conditions simulating "natural compartments" (Bai and Acharya, 2017; Vasconcelos et al., 2009) (e.g., sunlit fresh waters) or engineered UV treatment systems (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Paul et al., 2010). It has been shown that CIP undergoes defluorination, decarboxylation, and/or loss of the piperazine moiety to different degrees under different treatment conditions, but the core quinolone structure typically remains intact. It has also been widely observed that the corresponding photo-products retain some antibacterial activity but are generally less potent than the parent compound. Xiong et al. (2017b) suggest that algae may make use of cytochrome P450 (CYP450) enzymes to mediate CIP biodegradation reactions that are analogous to known bacterial transformations, again resulting in defluorination and loss of the piperazine ring. Thus, there is some similarity in key features between photo-products and biological metabolites. It is possible

that greater structural diversity of reaction products at lower residual concentrations could be valuable for mitigating the rise of antibiotic resistance among downstream organisms (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011). It would be worthwhile to identify CIP products in the LC and EA reactors in the future to help better understand how different removal mechanisms give rise to different products with potentially different residual antibiotic effects.

#### 3.3.2 Assessment of Residual Acute Antibiotic Potency

Having observed that the algae treatment and light control mediate efficient transformation of the CIP parent compound, we also wished to evaluate residual antibiotic potency. That is, we wanted to know whether the effluents contained reaction by-products that were still capable of inhibiting bacterial growth. Results of the short-duration residual antibiotic potency analysis are presented in Figure 3-2.



**Figure 3-2.** Growth of *E. coli* cultures exposed to (1) an LB media control without CIP (positive growth control), (2) algae treated (EA) samples, (3) light control (LC) samples, or (4) an untreated 25-µg/L CIP standard (CS). Error bars represent standard deviation for the mean of three replicates for each condition. *P*-values for comparisons of means are as follows: LB media control vs. EA (p = 0.05), LB media control vs. LC (p = 0.32), LB media control vs. untreated CS (p = 0.002), EA vs. LC (p = 0.41), LC vs. untreated CS (p = 0.03), and EA vs. untreated CS (p = 0.04).

From Figure 3-2, the algae treatment mediates appreciable reduction in CIP antibiotic potency during acute (short-duration) exposures to the model bacterium. The *E. coli* grew much more robustly in the presence of the treated samples from the experimental algae (EA) and light control (LC) than they did in the presence of the untreated CIP (CS). EA, LC, and LB media control samples exhibit a statistically significant difference in relative growth compared to the untreated CS samples at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

One additional observation from Figure 3-2 is that the acute exposure assay did not reveal a clear difference in E. coli growth inhibition between the treated EA and LC samples. That is, relative growth rates for the EA and LC samples did not exhibit a statistically significant difference from one another or the LB media control. This result is perhaps unexpected, given the observed difference in overall reduction in CIP concentration under these two conditions: 53% for LC vs. 93% for EA (Figure 3-1). It is possible that direct photolysis of CIP in the LC samples generated transformation products that were sufficiently different from the parent compound so as not to impact E. coli growth. Although we expect that the EA samples contain more diverse transformation products than the LC samples due to multiple transformation reactions occurring simultaneously, it is possible that the extent of CIP transformation in the EA samples goes beyond the necessary threshold for mitigating the effect of CIP on E. coli. Either way, our results are consistent with scant previous literature related to assessment of post-treatment antibiotic potencies. Yu et al. (2017) evaluated the acute antibiotic potency of ceftazidime before and after algae treatment, using two model organisms: E. coli as a model for Gram-negative bacteria, and Staphlycoccus aureus as a model for Gram-positive bacteria. They observed minimal growth inhibition by the treated samples and concluded that the principal transformation by-products are not appreciably bacteriostatic. Similarly, Paul et al. (2010) reported rapid removal of CIP and its corresponding antibiotic "potency equivalent" (PEC) (as measured against E. coli) during photolytic and/or photocatalytic treatment using ultraviolet or visible light with or without a catalyst. They observed a nearly linear 1:1 correlation between residual CIP concentration and antibiotic potency for all treated samples, from which they concluded that the transformation products were negligibly bacteriostatic compared to the parent compound. This result was somewhat surprising given that all of their identified transformation products retained the core

quinolone moiety, which typically plays an essential role in antibacterial activity of CIP and other fluoroquinolones. Although algae-mediated CIP transformation products have not specifically been identified, additional literature on the photo-transformation products of CIP provides some insight into possible photo-products generated by our EA and LC samples. For the most part, photo-transformation of fluoroquinolones result in molecularly consistent byproducts, though the pathways, amount of formation, and extent of transformation vary with many factors (e.g., pH, irradiance type and duration, initial concentration of parent compound, and presence of organics). For example, Batchu et al., 2014 and Salma et al., 2016 both analyzed the photo-transformation products of CIP under different irradiation sources. Batchu et al., 2014 identified eight CIP metabolites and their potential degradation pathways in purified, fresh, and salt water matrices. Salma et al., 2016 identified eighteen transformation products and found that variation in solution pH resulted in different product generation. They concluded that the primary step in phototransformation of CIP is defluorination followed by degradation of the piperazine ring (Salma et al., 2016); a process that has been shown to reduce the potency of fluoroquinolones (Calza et al., 2008; Paul et al., 2010). Neither Batchu et al. (2014) nor Salma et al. (2016) assessed the impacts of the transformation products on bacteria. Ultimately, it is not currently possible to understand why we observed no difference in acute potency for the algae-treated and light-control samples despite their difference in residual CIP concentrations, without knowing the identities of the LC and EA transformation products; therefore, it would be of interest to identify algae-mediated CIP transformation products in a future study.

#### 3.3.3 Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance

Our results from the CIP removal experiments and the acute residual potency assay reveal that the algae treatment has the capacity to reduce CIP concentration in a manner that also reduces its acute antibiotic potency toward a model bacterium. However, neither experiment conclusively shows that the algae treatment delivers the ultimate desired effect of reducing elicitation of transmissible antibiotic resistance over sustained exposures. This question has not been well addressed in most existing studies evaluating the efficacy of novel or traditional wastewater treatments against various antibiotic drugs. One possible exception is a recent analysis of electron beam irradiation by Szabó et al. (2017) in which the authors co-cultivated a mixture of resistant and non-resistant *S. aureus* in effluents arising from different treatment extents and identified what minimum treatment was required to ensure that the resistant strain could no longer outcompete the non-resistant strain.

We performed an adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) experiment to assess whether the algae treatment mitigates the development of antibiotic resistance during sustained exposures to a model bacterium. Results from this analysis are presented in Figure 3-3.



**Figure 3-3.** Observed minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of CIP over time for *E. coli* lineages exposed to (A) 25-µg/L untreated CIP (CS), (B) algae treated (EA) samples, (C) light control (LC) samples, or (D) algae growth media (MB3N) without CIP ("algae media control"). Observed mean MIC values for *E. coli* lineages exposed to LB media without CIP ("LB media control") are included in all panels (A)-(D), to facilitate visual comparison with wild-type, CIP-sensitive *E. coli*. Error bars represent standard error for triplicate lineages within each exposure group.

From Figure 3-3, all lineages were initially sensitive to CIP with initial  $\log_2(MIC) \approx -7$ . This value corresponds to a concentration of 0.01 µg/mL (10 µg/L), which is comparable with previously reported MIC values for wild-type, CIP-susceptible *E. coli* (Andrews, 2001; Becnel Boyd et al., 2009; Gullberg et al., 2011; Sharma et al., 2014). Within four days, lineages exposed to the untreated CS exhibited markedly increased CIP resistance. The MIC exhibited by this lineage continued to rapidly increase before ultimately achieving a plateau of  $log_2(MIC) = -1$ , which corresponds to 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL (500  $\mu$ g/L). The plateau concentration is 20-fold higher than the CIP concentration used to cultivate the CIP-exposed lineage. It is also 8-fold higher than the epidemiological cutoff (ECOFF) for CIP-resistant E. coli (0.064 µg/mL or 64 µg/L), as designated by the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) ("The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing," 2018). In contrast, we did not observe a change in measured MIC for lineages exposed to EA, LC, or the various media controls. After ten days (~80 generations), MIC values for these lineages were still within the range 0.0078-0.016 μg/mL (7.8-16 μg/L), consistent with EUCAST's characterization of CIP-susceptible, wild-type E. coli ("The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing," 2018). Thus, the EA samples and LC samples did not induce CIP resistance in E. coli during long-term exposures. This result offers definitive indication that the algae treatment reduces not only CIP parent compound concentration but also its acute antibiotic potency and its capacity to elicit antibiotic resistance over time.

As in the acute exposure assay, we did not observe a difference in residual effect between the EA samples (Figure 3-3B) and LC samples (Figure 3-3C) during the longer-term exposure assay. That is, *E. coli* exposed to EA and LC samples exhibited no statistically significant difference in MIC value. This result is a subtle but potentially important observation as it provides insight about how the proposed treatment delivers its desired outcomes. For example, the LC results reveal that light exposure alone enables rapid transformation of CIP into photo-products with marked reductions in both acute antibiotic potency and capacity to elicit antibiotic resistance over time. This result is intriguing, since most conventional treatments do not incorporate substantial sunlight exposure. However, it may be premature to conclude that the principal benefit of the proposed algae treatment is its ability to leverage "free" sunlight-powered phototransformations. As we have seen, the addition of active algae biomass markedly increases overall reduction in CIP concentration. Further, it has been previously shown that algae treatment is less energy consuming than conventional tertiary treatments such as UV irradiation (Colosi et al., 2015).

#### 3.3.4 Characterizing the Genetic Basis for Observed Phenotype CIP Resistance

Having observed that the algae treatment reduces elicitation of phenotype-level CIP resistance, as revealed by no increase in MIC over time, it was also of interest to investigate the genetic basis for this effect. We hypothesized that there may be relevant mutations present in the genomes of the CIP-resistant *E. coli* lineages that were absent from the non-resistant lineages cultivated in the treated effluents or media controls. Previous literature indicated that CIP resistance in *E. coli* and other bacteria corresponding with a high MIC to CIP is most frequently correlated with mutations in the QRDR of two genes: *gyrA* and/or *parC* (Chung et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2012; Mavroidi et al., 2012; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). The presence or absence of mutations in the QRDR of these two genes was determined with Sanger sequencing and compared to mutations found in literature (Table 3-1).

**Table 3-1.** Mutations in the quinolone resistance determining regions (QRDR) of *gyrA* and *parC* genes for *E. coli* lineages arising from adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE). Different lineages correspond to propagation in algae treated (EA) samples, light-exposed (LC) samples, or an untreated CIP standard (CS). Genomes from these lineages were compared to the Day-0 ancestors that had never been exposed to CIP.

Exposure Condition	Replicate #	<b>Observed Mutations in QRDR</b>		
-	-	gyrA	parC	
Ancestors	1	None	None	
(Pre-ALE)	2	None	None	
	3	None	None	
Untreated CIP standard (CS)	1	Ser83Leu	None	
(Post-ALE)	2	Asp87Gly	None	
	3	None	None	
Algae treated (EA) samples	1	None	None	
(Post-ALE)	2	None	None	
	3	None	None	
Light control (LC) samples	1	None	None	
(Post-ALE)	2	None	None	
	3	None	None	

The results in Table 3-1 confirm our observations in Figure 3-3. Two of the three *E. coli* lineages cultivated in untreated CS developed mutations in the QRDR of *gyrA*. Both mutations resulted in amino acid substitutions that have been associated with increased resistance to CIP in

literature (Chung et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). In contrast, the *E. coli* lineages cultivated in treated samples did not develop mutations in the QRDR of *gyrA*, which is consistent with our observations from Figure 3-3. Across all lineages, no mutations in the QRDR of *gyrA* have been observed at a higher frequency in CIP resistant *E. coli* than *parC* mutations (Chung et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). The third replicate of *E. coli* exposed to untreated CS did not develop mutations in the QRDR of *gyrA*. This result is unexpected given that this replicate, as well as replicates 1 and 2, developed a high MIC to CIP during ALE (Figure 3-3A). However, it is possible that this replicate contains a mutation within a gene region that we did not assess for this study such as *gyrB* or *parE*. These gene regions are less frequently associated with CIP resistance.

#### **3.4 Conclusions**

The results of this study demonstrate the efficacy of the algae treatment in reducing not only the CIP parent drug concentration, but also its corresponding acute potency and capacity to stimulate antibiotic resistance during chronic exposure to a model bacterium. It is pertinent to conduct comprehensive effects-based evaluations of all candidate treatment technologies to assess whether removal of a parent drug compound delivers reduced capacity of the effluent to elicit antibiotic resistance downstream. In our case, algae-mediated CIP transformation did correspond with a reduced likelihood of stimulating antibiotic resistance, but some studies have shown no correlation between reduction of the parent drug compound and reduction in stimulating antibiotic resistance. Therefore, previous studies of other candidate treatments should incorporate effectsbased methods to validate their parent drug compound removal results. ALE is a valuable tool to achieve this goal. Beyond this, it remains to be seen whether the treatment is also effective in deactivating another WWTP effluent constituent that is known to stimulate antibiotic resistance in the downstream environment; namely, antibiotic resistance genes (ARG). This assessment forms the basis for work presented in Chapter 5, with a goal of providing a more robust evaluation of the performance of the proposed algae treatment.

## **Supplementary Information: Chapter 4**

#### **3.5 References**

- Andreozzi, R., Caprio, V., Ciniglia, C., de Champdoré, M., Lo Giudice, R., Marotta, R., Zuccato, E., 2004. Antibiotics in the Environment: Occurrence in Italian STPs, Fate, and Preliminary Assessment on Algal Toxicity of Amoxicillin. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 6832–6838. https://doi.org/10.1021/es049509a
- Andrews, J.M., 2001. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 48 Suppl 1, 5–16.
- Bai, X., Acharya, K., 2017. Algae-mediated removal of selected pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) from Lake Mead water. Sci. Total Environ. 581–582, 734–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.192
- Batchu, S.R., Panditi, V.R., O'Shea, K.E., Gardinali, P.R., 2014. Photodegradation of antibiotics under simulated solar radiation: Implications for their environmental fate. Sci. Total Environ. 470–471, 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.057
- Batstone, D.J., Hülsen, T., Mehta, C.M., Keller, J., 2015. Platforms for energy and nutrient recovery from domestic wastewater: A review. Chemosphere, Wastewater-Energy Nexus: Towards Sustainable Wastewater Reclamation 140, 2–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.10.021
- Becnel Boyd, L., Maynard, M.J., Morgan-Linnell, S.K., Horton, L.B., Sucgang, R., Hamill, R.J., Jimenez, J.R., Versalovic, J., Steffen, D., Zechiedrich, L., 2009. Relationships among Ciprofloxacin, Gatifloxacin, Levofloxacin, and Norfloxacin MICs for Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Escherichia coli Clinical Isolates. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 229–234. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00722-08
- Ben, W., Zhu, B., Yuan, X., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Qiang, Z., 2018. Occurrence, removal and risk of organic micropollutants in wastewater treatment plants across China: Comparison of wastewater treatment processes. Water Res. 130, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.11.057

- Calza, P., Medana, C., Carbone, F., Giancotti, V., Baiocchi, C., 2008. Characterization of intermediate compounds formed upon photoinduced degradation of quinolones by highperformance liquid chromatography/high-resolution multiple-stage mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. RCM 22, 1533–1552. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.3537
- Chung, Y.S., Hu, Y.S., Shin, S., Lim, S.K., Yang, S.J., Park, Y.H., Park, K.T., 2017. Mechanisms of quinolone resistance in Escherichia coli isolated from companion animals, pet-owners, and non-pet-owners. J. Vet. Sci. 18, 449–456. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2017.18.4.449
- Colosi, L.M., Resurreccion, E.P., Zhang, Y., 2015. Assessing the energy and environmental performance of algae-mediated tertiary treatment of estrogenic compounds. Env. Sci Process. Impacts 17, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00541D
- Dragosits, M., Mattanovich, D., 2013. Adaptive laboratory evolution principles and applications for biotechnology. Microb. Cell Factories 12, 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-12-64
- Drug Record Ciprofloxacin [WWW Document], n.d. . NIH LiverTox Clin. Res. Inf. Drug-Induc. Liver Inj. URL https://livertox.nlm.nih.gov/Ciprofloxacin.htm (accessed 4.4.18).
- Fatta-Kassinos, D., Vasquez, M.I., Kümmerer, K., 2011. Transformation products of pharmaceuticals in surface waters and wastewater formed during photolysis and advanced oxidation processes – Degradation, elucidation of byproducts and assessment of their biological potency. Chemosphere 85, 693–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.082
- Ge, L., Deng, H., Wu, F., Deng, N., 2009. Microalgae-promoted photodegradation of two endocrine disrupters in aqueous solutions. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 84, 331–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2043
- Golet, E.M., Alder, A.C., Giger, W., 2002. Environmental Exposure and Risk Assessment of Fluoroquinolone Antibacterial Agents in Wastewater and River Water of the Glatt Valley Watershed, Switzerland. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36, 3645–3651. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0256212
- González, L.E., Cañizares, R.O., Baena, S., 1997. Efficiency of ammonia and phosphorus removal from a colombian agroindustrial wastewater by the microalgae Chlorella vulgaris and Scenedesmus dimorphus. Bioresour. Technol. 60, 259–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(97)00029-1
- Gullberg, E., Cao, S., Berg, O.G., Ilbäck, C., Sandegren, L., Hughes, D., Andersson, D.I., 2011. Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. PLOS Pathog. 7, e1002158. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002158
- Guo, Ruixin, Chen, Jianqu, 2015. Application of alga-activated sludge combined system (AASCS) as a novel treatment to remove cephalosporins. Chem. Eng. J. 260, 550–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.09.053

- Hom-Diaz, A., Jaén-Gil, A., Bello-Laserna, I., Rodríguez-Mozaz, S., Vicent, T., Barceló, D., Blánquez, P., 2017. Performance of a microalgal photobioreactor treating toilet wastewater: Pharmaceutically active compound removal and biomass harvesting. Sci. Total Environ. 592, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.224
- Hu, Y.S., Shin, S., Park, Y.H., Park, K.T., 2017. Prevalence and Mechanism of Fluoroquinolone Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Swine Feces in Korea. J. Food Prot. 80, 1145– 1151. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-16-502
- Hughes, S.R., Kay, P., Brown, L.E., 2012. Global Synthesis and Critical Evaluation of Pharmaceutical Data Sets Collected from River Systems [WWW Document]. https://doi.org/10.1021/es3030148
- Idowu, O.R., Peggins, J.O., 2004. Simple, rapid determination of enrofloxacin and ciprofloxacin in bovine milk and plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 35, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2004.01.006
- Janecko, N., Pokludova, L., Blahova, J., Svobodova, Z., Literak, I., 2016. Implications of fluoroquinolone contamination for the aquatic environment—A review. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 2647–2656. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3552
- Johnning, A., Kristiansson, E., Fick, J., Weijdegård, B., Larsson, D.G.J., 2015. Resistance Mutations in gyrA and parC are Common in Escherichia Communities of both Fluoroquinolone-Polluted and Uncontaminated Aquatic Environments. Front. Microbiol. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01355
- Kim, J.-Y., Jeon, S.-M., Kim, H., Lim, N., Park, M.-S., Kim, S.-H., 2012. Resistance to Fluoroquinolone by a Combination of Efflux and Target Site Mutations in Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli Isolated in Korea. Osong Public Health Res. Perspect. 3, 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrp.2012.11.002
- Lee, H.-B., Peart, T.E., Svoboda, M.L., 2007. Determination of ofloxacin, norfloxacin, and ciprofloxacin in sewage by selective solid-phase extraction, liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1139, 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2006.11.068
- Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., Qi, R., 2010. Antibiotic Resistance Characteristics of Environmental Bacteria from an Oxytetracycline Production Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Receiving River. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 3444–3451. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02964-09
- Lupan, I., Carpa, R., Oltean, A., Kelemen, B.S., Popescu, O., 2017. Release of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria by a Waste Treatment Plant from Romania. Microbes Environ. 32, 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.ME17016

- Mavroidi, A., Miriagou, V., Liakopoulos, A., Tzelepi, E., Stefos, A., Dalekos, G.N., Petinaki, E., 2012. Ciprofloxacin-resistant Escherichia coli in Central Greece: mechanisms of resistance and molecular identification. BMC Infect. Dis. 12, 371. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-12-371
- McCarty, P.L., Bae, J., Kim, J., 2011. Domestic Wastewater Treatment as a Net Energy Producer– Can This be Achieved? Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 7100–7106. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2014264
- Melvin, S.D., Leusch, F.D.L., 2016. Removal of trace organic contaminants from domestic wastewater: A meta-analysis comparison of sewage treatment technologies. Environ. Int. 92–93, 183–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.031
- Menger-Krug, E., Niederste-Hollenberg, J., Hillenbrand, T., Hiessl, H., 2012. Integration of Microalgae Systems at Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants: Implications for Energy and Emission Balances. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 11505–11514. https://doi.org/10.1021/es301967y
- Morgan-Linnell, S.K., Boyd, L.B., Steffen, D., Zechiedrich, L., 2009. Mechanisms Accounting for Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Escherichia coli Clinical Isolates. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 235–241. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00665-08
- Muchohi, S.N., Thuo, N., Karisa, J., Muturi, A., Kokwaro, G.O., Maitland, K., 2011. Determination of ciprofloxacin in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with fluorescence detection: Application to a population pharmacokinetics study in children with severe malnutrition. J. Chromatogr. B 879, 146– 152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.11.032
- Noguera-Oviedo, K., Aga, D.S., 2016. Lessons learned from more than two decades of research on emerging contaminants in the environment. J. Hazard. Mater. 316, 242–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058
- Paul, T., Dodd, M.C., Strathmann, T.J., 2010. Photolytic and photocatalytic decomposition of aqueous ciprofloxacin: Transformation products and residual antibacterial activity. Water Res. 44, 3121–3132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.03.002
- Piñero, M.-Y., Fuenmayor, M., Arce, L., Bauza, R., Valcárcel, M., 2013. A simple sample treatment for the determination of enrofloxacin and ciprofloxacin in raw goat milk. Microchem. J. 110, 533–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2013.06.008
- Pruden, A., Larsson, D.G.J., Amézquita, A., Collignon, P., Brandt, K.K., Graham, D.W., Lazorchak, J.M., Suzuki, S., Silley, P., Snape, J.R., Topp, E., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y.-G., 2013. Environmental Health Perspectives – Management Options for Reducing the Release of Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance Genes to the Environment. Environ Health Perspect 121, 878–885. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206446

- Pushpakumari Kudahettige, N., Pickova, J., Gentili, F.G., 2018. Stressing Algae for Biofuel Production: Biomass and Biochemical Composition of Scenedesmus dimorphus and Selenastrum minutum Grown in Municipal Untreated Wastewater. Front. Energy Res. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2018.00132
- Salama, E.-S., Kurade, M.B., Abou-Shanab, R.A.I., El-Dalatony, M.M., Yang, I.-S., Min, B., Jeon, B.-H., 2017. Recent progress in microalgal biomass production coupled with wastewater treatment for biofuel generation. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 79, 1189–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.091
- Salma, A., Thoröe-Boveleth, S., Schmidt, T.C., Tuerk, J., 2016. Dependence of transformation product formation on pH during photolytic and photocatalytic degradation of ciprofloxacin. J. Hazard. Mater. 313, 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.03.010
- Sharma, R., Sapkota, S., Khanal, D., 2014. Correlation of minimum inhibitory concentration of Ciprofloxacin to the therapeutic response of patient with urinary tract infection caused by Escherichia coli 5, 970–976.
- Shi, W., Wang, L., Rousseau, D.P.L., Lens, P.N.L., 2010. Removal of estrone, 17αethinylestradiol, and 17β-estradiol in algae and duckweed-based wastewater treatment systems. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 17, 824–833. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0301-7
- Szabó, L., Steinhardt, M., Homlok, R., Kovács, K., Illés, E., Kiskó, G., Belák, Á., Mohácsi-Farkas, C., Takács, E., Wojnárovits, L., 2017. A Microbiological Assay for Assessing the Applicability of Advanced Oxidation Processes for Eliminating the Sublethal Effects of Antibiotics on Selection of Resistant Bacteria. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 4, 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.7b00127
- The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing [WWW Document], 2018. . Break. Tables Interpret. MICs Zone Diameters Version 80. URL https://mic.eucast.org/Eucast2/SearchController/search.jsp?action=performSearch&Begin Index=0&Micdif=mic&NumberIndex=50&Antib=-1&Specium=162 (accessed 3.28.18).
- Tiwari, B., Sellamuthu, B., Ouarda, Y., Drogui, P., Tyagi, R.D., Buelna, G., 2017. Review on fate and mechanism of removal of pharmaceutical pollutants from wastewater using biological approach. Bioresour. Technol. 224, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.11.042
- Vasconcelos, T.G., Henriques, D.M., König, A., Martins, A.F., Kümmerer, K., 2009. Photodegradation of the antimicrobial ciprofloxacin at high pH: Identification and biodegradability assessment of the primary by-products. Chemosphere 76, 487–493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.03.022
- Wang, Y., Liu, J., Kang, D., Wu, C., Wu, Y., 2017. Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products from wastewater using algae-based technologies: a review. Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol. 16, 717–735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-017-9446-x

- Wu, Q., Li, Z., Hong, H., Li, R., Jiang, W.-T., 2013. Desorption of ciprofloxacin from clay mineral surfaces. Water Res. 47, 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.10.010
- Xiong, J.-Q., Kurade, M.B., Jeon, B.-H., 2017a. Can Microalgae Remove Pharmaceutical Contaminants from Water? Trends Biotechnol. 0. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.09.003
- Xiong, J.-Q., Kurade, M.B., Kim, J.R., Roh, H.-S., Jeon, B.-H., 2017b. Ciprofloxacin toxicity and its co-metabolic removal by a freshwater microalga Chlamydomonas mexicana. J. Hazard. Mater., Special Issue on Emerging Contaminants in engineered and natural environment 323, 212–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.073
- Yen, P., Papin, J.A., 2017. History of antibiotic adaptation influences microbial evolutionary dynamics during subsequent treatment. PLOS Biol. 15, e2001586. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001586
- Yu, Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, Z., Torres, O.L., Guo, R., Chen, J., 2017. Investigation of the removal mechanism of antibiotic ceftazidime by green algae and subsequent microbic impact assessment. Sci. Rep. 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-04128-3
- Zhang, Y., Habteselassie, M.Y., Resurreccion, E.P., Mantripragada, V., Peng, S., Bauer, S., Colosi,
  L.M., 2014. Evaluating Removal of Steroid Estrogens by a Model Alga as a Possible
  Sustainability Benefit of Hypothetical Integrated Algae Cultivation and Wastewater
  Treatment Systems. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2, 2544–2553.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/sc5004538
- Zhou, G.-J., Ying, G.-G., Liu, S., Zhou, L.-J., Chen, Z.-F., Peng, F.-Q., 2014. Simultaneous removal of inorganic and organic compounds in wastewater by freshwater green microalgae. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 16, 2018–2027. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00094C
- Zhou, Z., Jiang, J.Q., 2012. Detection of ibuprofen and ciprofloxacin by solid-phase extraction and UV/Vis spectroscopy. J. Appl. Spectrosc. 79, 459–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10812-012-9623-1

Chapter 4: Objective 1, Supplementary Information

# Evaluating the efficacy of an algae-based treatment to remove an antibiotic compound and its corresponding antibiotic resistance effects

Kassandra L. Grimes<sup>1</sup>, Laura J. Dunphy<sup>2</sup>, Erica M. Loudermilk<sup>1</sup>, A. Jasmin Melara<sup>1</sup>, Glynis L. Kolling<sup>2</sup>, Jason A. Papin<sup>2</sup>, and Lisa M. Colosi<sup>1</sup>

#### 4.1 Algae-mediated removal of CIP

#### 4.1.1 Algae Cultivation

#### 4.1.1.1 Chemicals and Medium

We purchased reagent-grade ingredients for algae culture media and other chemicals from Fisher Scientific Inc. (Pittsburgh, PA). HPLC-grade analytical solvents (acetonitrile and methanol) were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). We prepared CIP standards over the range of 0-250  $\mu$ g/L via serial dilution in an HPLC-grade solvent mixture of formic acid, methanol, and acetonitrile (2/49/49 v/v) from a 0.25-g/L stock solution of CIP in the same solvent mixture.

# 4.1.1.2 Growth Curves

In order to assess the potential potency of CIP to our model alga, *S. dimorphus*, We assessed and compared its growth over time with or without 25  $\mu$ g/L of CIP. We sampled from triplicate reactors for each condition at predesignated time intervals over 144 hours and measured growth via optical density at a wavelength of 662nm. The results of the analysis are presented in Figure 4-1. Based on these data, we observed no statistically significant difference in growth with and without 25  $\mu$ g/L CIP. This confirms that CIP does not inhibit algae growth at this concentration.



**Figure 4-1.** Algae growth over time during exponential phase, in the presence and absence of 25  $\mu$ g/L CIP. Error bars represent 90% confidence for triplicate reactors. P-value for the t-test to compare two regression slopes (assuming non-pooled standard error) is 0.30. This analysis was conducted using the Real Statistics Resource Pack software (Release 5.4). Copyright (2013 – 2018) Charles Zaiontz (www.real-statistics.com).

#### 4.1.2 SPE Protocol

In order to concentrate and purify our experimental samples, we applied a solid phase extraction (SPE) method based on previously validated methods from Zhang et al. 2014 and Zhou et al. 2012 (Zhang et al., 2014; Zhou and Jiang, 2012). We pretreated Oasis<sup>®</sup> HLB SPE 3cc (160 mg) cartridges with 1 mL of methanol and equilibrated with 1 mL of HPLC-grade water. We then loaded 10-mL samples at a rate of 5 mL/min. Next, we washed the loaded cartridges with 2 mL of

a 50:50 (v/v) HPLC-grade methanol and water solution, vacuum dried them for 15 minutes, and then eluted them in 4 mL of a 2/49/49 formic acid-methanol-acetonitrile (v/v/v) solvent mixture. We then sealed the eluted samples in amber, crimp-top HPLC vials.

#### 4.1.3 Approaches to Account for CIP Sorption

The unique characteristics of both the sorbate (CIP) and sorbent (algae) made it challenging to develop a method for allocating the contribution of sorption to the total apparent CIP removal observed in our EA reactors. We therefore applied two literature protocols to assess the contribution of sorption to CIP apparent removal. One protocol was from Wu et al. 2013, and the other was from Zhang et al. 2014 (Wu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014).

The protocol from Wu et al. 2013 is optimized for assessing the desorption of CIP from clay minerals. Although the sorbate is the same between our experiment and the one conducted by Wu et al. 2013, our sorbents have very different properties. Following a modification of the method from Wu et al. 2013, we measured the sorption of CIP to live algae cells in the experimental algae (EA) reactors at t = 24 hours (to capture possible instantaneous sorption) and 144 hours (to capture overall net sorption) using the following steps:

- Centrifuge 45-mL samples from each EA reactor at 3000 rpm for 20 minutes to separate algae solids from medium.
- 2. Decant supernatant (algae medium) and add 20 mL of 50-mM AlCl<sub>3</sub> solution to the algae biomass in the tube. Shake to combine and dissolve algae pellet.
- 3. Attach the centrifuge tubes to a crab shaker at 25 °C (77 °F) in the dark to prevent further photolysis of CIP; shake for 24 hours.

- 4. Centrifuge samples at 3000 rpm for 20 minutes and remove 20 mL of liquid into a fresh centrifuge tube for SPE and HPLC analysis.
- 5. Repeat steps 3-5 until one or more replicates exhibit non-detectable (ND) CIP. ND was operationally defined as < 10% of the minimum detection level (see Chapter 3, Section 3.2.1).

Using this approach, and extrapolating from our calibration data (see Figure 4-4) we estimated that sorption may have accounted for < 1% of CIP apparent removal at t = 24 hours and that this was unchanged after t = 144 hours.

The protocol developed by Zhang et al. 2014 assesses the sorption of estrogens to *S*. *dimorphus* with a separate set of experimental control reactors. They used an autoclaved algae sorption control (AASC), comprising autoclave-deactivated algae biomass spiked with 5  $\mu$ g/L of estrogens and completely covered (to prevent light penetration) to account for sorption of the estrogens to the algae. Samples from the AASC reactors were filtered to remove the algae cells and the filtrate was collected to assess estrogen concentrations at the start and end of the experiment using HPLC. The difference between the concentration of estrogens spiked into the reactor at the start of the experiment and the concentration of estrogens measured in the filtrate is the concentration of estrogens that sorbed to the algae. However, it is uncertain whether or not autoclaving the algae changes its sorptive properties, so it is possible that this method may not be entirely representative of the sorption that may occur in the EA reactors with live algae.

Based on the method from Zhang et al. 2014, we also used a set of two AASC reactors, which comprised of 50 mg/L of previously autoclave-deactivated (60 minutes at 121 °C and 260  $psi/^{\circ}F$ ) algae biomass and media spiked with 25  $\mu$ g/L CIP and wrapped in foil to prevent light

penetration. These reactors were cultivated under stirring, aeration, and illumination conditions for 144 hours as described in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.1. Samples from the AASC reactors were collected at the start and end of the experiment, filtered through 0.7  $\mu$ m pore size glass microfiber filters to remove the algae cells, and residual CIP concentration in the filtrate assessed using SPE and HPLC.



**Figure 4-2.** Normalized (C/C<sub>0</sub>) concentrations of ciprofloxacin (CIP) over time for autoclaved algae sorption control (AASC) reactors over 144 hours. Error bars are standard error for the duplicate AASC reactors.

The CIP concentrations in the filtrate of our AASC reactors at the start and end of the experiment do not decrease over time as shown in Figure 4-2. This result indicates that the CIP did not sorb to the autoclaved algae in the reactor. This result suggests that sorption was not a significant contributor to CIP apparent removal observed in the EA system.

Based on our observations with both of these methods, we conclude that sorption of CIP to algae does not play a significant role in the overall apparent CIP removal.

# 4.1.4 HPLC Method, Chromatogram, and CIP calibration curve

We used a Shimadzu 2010-AB high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with fluorescence and UV detectors to measure CIP concentrations based on previously validated methods (Idowu and Peggins, 2004; Lee et al., 2007; Muchohi et al., 2011; Piñero et al., 2013). We used the fluorescence detector as the primary detector. Excitation and emission wavelengths were 280 and 445 nm, respectively. The mobile phase comprised a mixture of: A) 1% formic acid in DI water (74% of total flow); and B) 50:50 methanol and acetonitrile (16% of total flow). This was pumped isocratically at 0.5 mL/min. We used a 125 mm x 3.2 mm C18 column (Phenomenex) and a sample injection volume of 20  $\mu$ L. Under these conditions, CIP retention time was 1.9 minutes and limit of detection was 2  $\mu$ g/L.

# **HPLC Chromatogram**



**Figure 4-3.** Example chromatogram for 80  $\mu$ g/L CIP standard in a mixed solution of formic acid/acetonitrile/methanol (2/49/49) under HPLC (Shimadzu) fluorescence detection. CIP elutes at roughly 1.9 minutes. Formic acid in the mobile phase generates a peak at roughly 1.0 minute.

# **CIP** Calibration Curve



**Figure 4-4.** Calibration curve for CIP concentrations over the range 2-100  $\mu$ g/L. The minimum detection level of CIP for this method was 2  $\mu$ g/L.

The minimum detection level of CIP for this method is 2  $\mu$ g/L. This was the lowest standard for which peak area could be reproducibly quantified (< 1% variation over 5-10 injections). Our concentration factor for SPE was 4X. Our SPE recovery was approximately 100%.

#### 4.2 Assessment of Residual Acute Antibiotic Potency

# 4.2.1 E. coli Preparation

Our *E. coli* stock culture was made in lysogeny broth (LB) and stored at -20 °C in a 25% glycerol solution. We prepared fresh *E. coli* cultures from a frozen stock at the start of each exposure experiment, adding 100  $\mu$ L of the concentrate pellet to 50 mL of autoclaved LB in a 250-mL flask. We incubated this culture with 200-rpm shaking for 12 hours at 37 °C, then centrifuged and poured off the supernatant. We determined culture CFUs using the IDEXX protocol and compared the results with OD<sub>625</sub>. The concentration of the stock was 2.6 x 10<sup>12</sup> CFU/100 mL, which we then diluted 1:1000 with fresh LB to use in experiments.

# 4.2.2 Lysogeny Broth (LB) Recipe

To make lysogeny broth (LB) culture media, we added 0.5 g yeast extract, 0.5 g sodium chloride, and 0.25 g tryptone to 50 mL of DI water in a 250-mL flask, mixed until completely dissolved, and autoclaved.

# 4.2.3 Controls used for CIP Acute Potency Bioassay

Control	Supplemented with concentrated LB nutrients?	CIP, concentration (µg/L)	<i>E. coli</i> , stock concentration (CFU/100mL)
$A_{max}^{1}$	Yes	No, 0	Yes, 2.6x10 <sup>9</sup>
$A_{min}^2$	Yes	No, 0	No, 0
Untreated CIP Standard (CS)	Yes	Yes, 25	Yes, 2.6x10 <sup>9</sup>
Treated samples from algae (EA) and light-exposed (LC) experimental reactors	Yes	Yes, residual CIP concentration and by- products measured at 144 hours	Yes, 2.6x10 <sup>9</sup>

 Table 4-1. Micro-well contents for the CIP acute potency bioassay

<sup>1</sup>Absorbance of a positive control corresponding to bacterial growth in LB with no CIP (i.e., 100% growth)

<sup>2</sup>Absorbance of an abiotic negative control comprising LB with no bacteria and no CIP (i.e., 0% growth)

# 4.3 Assessment of Residual Capacity to Elicit Antibiotic Resistance

# 4.3.1 Calculation of Number of Generations

The doubling time and total number of generations during our 10-day ALE experiment were estimated as follows. Each day, bacterial cultures were propagated to fresh media with a dilution factor of 1/250. Prior to dilution, the optical density at 600nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) of each culture was measured. The OD<sub>600</sub> values of the daily cultures remained relatively stable throughout the evolution experiment. The number of generations per day was therefore calculated as

log(250)/log(2), or approximately 8 generations per day. The 10-day adaptation experiment therefore accounted for about 80 generations.



**Figure 4-5.** Background subtracted growth curve for *E. coli* grown in LB media without CIP. Optical density readings were taken every 10 minutes and the background blank media was subtracted (black). Exponential growth ends after roughly 10 hours and stationary phase continues until roughly 23 hours. We chose to incubate all lineages for the full 23-hour growth phase to allow ample time for each lineage to reach stationarity.

# 4.3.2 MIC Plate Dilution Calculations for E. coli

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Α	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
В	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
С	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
D	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
Е	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
F	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
G	[0 ug/mL]	[0.0039 ug/mL]	[0.0078 ug/mL]	[0.0156 ug/mL]	[0.03125 ug/mL]	[0.0625 ug/mL]	[0.125 ug/mL]	[0.25 ug/mL]	[0.5 ug/mL]	[1 ug/mL]	[2 ug/mL]	[4 ug/mL]
Н	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank	blank

**Table 4-2.** CIP concentration gradient in each well to assess MIC of *E. coli* to CIP during ALE

# 4.3.3 Reference MICs for CIP-susceptible E. coli and CIP

MIC (µg/mL)	Source		
0.023	Gullberg, E., et al. 2011		
0.015	Andrews, J.M., 2001		
0.017	Boyd, L.B., et al. 2009		
0.015 - 0.03	Sharma, R. et al. 2014		

Table 4-3. Reference MICs of CIP for "wild-type" (i.e. CIP-susceptible) E. coli

4.3.4 Sanger Sequencing – Primer Design

Table 4-4.	Primers	used in	this	study.
------------	---------	---------	------	--------

Gene	Primer (5'-3')	Gene Size (base pairs)	PCR Annealing Temperature (°C)	Melting Temperature (°C)
<i>gyrA</i> Forward	GCTCCCTTTTGGCATGAAGC		57	62.4
<i>gyrA</i> Reverse	GCGGTTAGATGAGCGACCTT	2662	57	62.4
<i>parC</i> Forward	GATCTCCTGTGACTCGACGC		57	64.5
<i>parC</i> Reverse	GTTGAATACGCTGCCGGATG	2433	57	62.4
# 4.3.5 Retrospective MIC Analyses

We retrospectively re-measured the 10-day MIC values for the third algae treated (EA) replicate due to suspected contamination during the Day 1 lineage propagation. Following protocol used by Yen and Papin, 2017, we revived the Day-0 frozen stock of ancestor 3 and plated it on an LB agar plate incubated for 23 hours at 37 °C (Yen and Papin, 2017). After incubation of the Day-0 ancestor 3, we performed the same process of single colony inoculation, daily propagation into algae treated exposure media, sample storage, and MIC plating for ten days as described in Section 3.2.3 of the manuscript methodology. Our retrospective analysis of the EA replicate 3 lineage resulted in MIC data that was consistent with that of EA replicates 1 and 2.

Each MIC assay contained seven rows of identical CIP concentration gradient (technical replicates) and 1 row of blank media as a sterility control. When assessing daily MICs for each lineage, we used the criteria that there had to be a 4-row MIC consensus in order to conclusively designate a MIC for each lineage each day. For assays that did not meet the 4-row MIC consensus on specific days, we revived frozen stock cultures of the corresponding lineage from the day prior to the MIC error and inoculated directly into fresh exposure media. We then incubated the revived cultures for 23 hours at 37 °C with 160-rpm shaking and diluted cultures to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.01 for MIC plate analysis as described in Section 3.2.3 of the manuscript methodology. Our retrospective analysis of individual lineage MIC plates resulted in better 4-row MIC consensus and data that was consistent with the other biological replicates for each condition.

# 4.4 References

- Idowu, O.R., Peggins, J.O., 2004. Simple, rapid determination of enrofloxacin and ciprofloxacin in bovine milk and plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 35, 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2004.01.006
- Lee, H.-B., Peart, T.E., Svoboda, M.L., 2007. Determination of ofloxacin, norfloxacin, and ciprofloxacin in sewage by selective solid-phase extraction, liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1139, 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2006.11.068
- Muchohi, S.N., Thuo, N., Karisa, J., Muturi, A., Kokwaro, G.O., Maitland, K., 2011. Determination of ciprofloxacin in human plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with fluorescence detection: Application to a population pharmacokinetics study in children with severe malnutrition. J. Chromatogr. B 879, 146–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2010.11.032
- Piñero, M.-Y., Fuenmayor, M., Arce, L., Bauza, R., Valcárcel, M., 2013. A simple sample treatment for the determination of enrofloxacin and ciprofloxacin in raw goat milk. Microchem. J. 110, 533–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2013.06.008
- Wu, Q., Li, Z., Hong, H., Li, R., Jiang, W.-T., 2013. Desorption of ciprofloxacin from clay mineral surfaces. Water Res. 47, 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.10.010
- Yen, P., Papin, J.A., 2017. History of antibiotic adaptation influences microbial evolutionary dynamics during subsequent treatment. PLOS Biol. 15, e2001586. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001586
- Zhang, Y., Habteselassie, M.Y., Resurreccion, E.P., Mantripragada, V., Peng, S., Bauer, S., Colosi, L.M., 2014. Evaluating removal of steroid estrogens by a model alga as a possible sustainability benefit of hypothetical integrated algae cultivation and wastewater treatment systems. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2, 2544–2553. https://doi.org/10.1021/sc5004538
- Zhou, Z., Jiang, J.Q., 2012. Detection of ibuprofen and ciprofloxacin by solid-phase extraction and UV/Vis spectroscopy. J. Appl. Spectrosc. 79, 459–464. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10812-012-9623-1

# Chapter 5: Objective 2, Algae Treatment of a Model ARG Plasmid

This chapter will result in one publication.

Grimes, K. L., Dunphy, L. J., Kolling, G. L., Papin, J. A., Colosi, L. M. (2020) "Assessing an algae-based treatment to deactivate a plasmid carrying tetracycline resistance." (*In preparation*)

#### **5.1 Introduction**

In addition to the untreated antibiotic drug compounds and their principal metabolites, wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluents are also a source of antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) into the environment, which can stimulate antibiotic resistance in environmental bacteria (Marti et al., 2013). Objective 2 of this dissertation focuses on methodological development to assess of the efficacy of the algae treatment in degrading or deactivating ARG; as measured using two different approaches: qualitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) and transformation assay.

ARG can exist as two general classes: (1) as part of the organism's genome (i.e., "genomic ARG"); or (2) on a separate genetic structure that can replicate independently of its genome (i.e., "plasmid-mediated ARG"). Genomic ARGs are transmitted to other organisms primarily via vertical gene transfer. This refers to the process by which a viable bacterium replicates its genome and divides into two identical cells. In contrast, plasmid ARG may be transmitted to other organisms either vertically or horizontally. Horizontal gene transfer comprises the process by which viable bacteria share genes with other viable bacteria within the same generation, or viable bacteria take up free-floating genes from the surrounding environment (von Wintersdorff et al., 2016). This dissertation will focus on algae treatment of a plasmid-mediated ARG, since it is presumed that bacteria carrying genomic ARG will not be able to transmit resistance to other organisms (i.e., their offspring) once they have been killed via disinfection. Also, horizontal gene transfer is of much greater concern for public health than vertical gene transfer because of the potential for genes to be shared among bacteria species and in particular, potential for nonpathogenic bacteria to share ARG with pathogenic bacteria and then rapidly proliferate (Guo et al., 2017; Li et al., 2010; von Wintersdorff et al., 2016).

Existing literature indicates that ciprofloxacin (CIP) resistance is predominantly encoded via genomic ARG in environmentally relevant bacteria; e.g., *Escherichia coli* (Chung et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Johnning et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2012; Mavroidi et al., 2012; Morgan-Linnell et al., 2009). This makes CIP-relevant ARG somewhat uninteresting in the context of evaluating ARG deactivation. Therefore, Objective 2 experiments focus on a model plasmid, pEX18Tc, that contains the *tet* gene encoding resistance to tetracycline. Like CIP, tetracycline is a widely prescribed, therapeutically important antibiotic drug. Plasmids encoding tetracycline resistance have been measured in WWTP influent and effluent (Dodd, 2012; Guo et al., 2017; Hultman et al., 2018; Karkman et al., 2017; May et al., 2009). Also, the genes that encode tetracycline resistance) such that our findings will have relevance to not only tetracycline resistance mitigation but also other kinds of resistance mitigation (May et al., 2009).

Currently, there is limited information available on the fate of ARG in and downstream of WWTPs. Also, thousands of ARG have been identified, which makes them difficult and expensive to assess on an individual basis. As discussed in Chapter 1, preliminary reports reveal that different wastewater treatments are effective against various ARG to different extents. For example, in a study at a WWTP in Cluj-Napoca, Romania, elevated levels of ARG and ARB were measured 10 km downstream of the plant indicating that the primary, secondary, and tertiary (chlorination) treatments of the plant were ineffective at deactivating ARG (Lupan et al., 2017). Likewise, ARGs encoding tetracycline resistance were detected within and downstream from an oxytetracycline production facility WWTP in China. They were not detected upstream of the plant, which indicates that the treatment processes directly contributed ARG to the receiving water (Li et al., 2010).

As discussed in Chapter 1, lab-scale studies of different types of tertiary wastewater treatments have demonstrated varying levels of effectiveness toward deactivating ARGs. Additionally, some studies have confirmed instances of ARG reactivation after application of traditional wastewater treatments such as UV and ozone. Previous studies have not assessed the effectiveness of an algae treatment system toward ARG deactivation. The energy benefits of integrated algae wastewater systems have been previously established (Colosi et al., 2015; Ge et al., 2009; Menger-Krug et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2014).

We investigated algae treatment of the pEX18Tc tetracycline resistance conferring plasmid with two key objectives: (1) quantify plasmid *degradation* via qPCR; and (2) assess plasmid *deactivation* via transformation assays. This chapter also emphasizes the method development for assessing algae treatment of ARGs. In the literature, qPCR is often used to quickly quantify ARG in environmental systems. To align our results with those of other ARG studies, we worked to develop a comparable qPCR method for the algae treatment system, but were ultimately unsuccessful. A few studies have also used transformation assays, which are culture-based assessments, to evaluate ARG deactivation. Transformation assays provide a better interpretation of a treatment's ability to reduce the capacity of the ARG to transform in other host cells via horizontal gene transfer. Therefore, we prioritized the development of a transformation assay over qPCR for our assessment of the algae treatment of plasmid pEX18Tc. The objectives of this study build on our previous work to assess the efficacy of a single treatment to remove an antibiotic parent compound, reduce its acute and chronic potency effects, and deactivate ARG.

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

#### 5.2.1 Algae Treatment

#### 5.2.1.1 General Experimental Approach

We exposed an ARG plasmid stock solution to a model algae treatment to assess the treatment efficacy toward deactivating the ARG. We also exposed the plasmid stock solution to relevant controls to ascertain potential effects of concurrent deactivation processes in the algae treatment. We used qPCR, an assay commonly used for ARG detection, to assess changes in plasmid quantity. We designed a short-amplicon qPCR method (< 200 bps) similar to those commonly used for ARG detection as well as a long-amplicon qPCR method (~1200 bps) to assess impacts over the entire ARG (1190 bps). In a separate analysis, we evaluated reduction in ARG transformation efficiency for untreated versus treated plasmid stock solutions, to qualitatively characterize the extent to which algae treatment mediates the risk of ARG dissemination via discharged wastewater effluents. Our use of the transformation assay as an effects-based assessment offers some insight into the effects of treated ARG on downstream organisms in environmental settings.

#### 5.2.1.2 Algae Cultivation

Our research group maintains pure cultures of the freshwater algal species *Scenedesmus dimorphus* (UTEX 1237) for use in the treatment experiments as previously published. (Grimes et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2014)

#### 5.2.1.3 ARG Plasmid Selection, Preparation, and Extraction

We assessed plasmid pEX18Tc (originally provided by Dr. Joe J. Harrison, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada), which is a multi-host cloning vector that carries the *tet* resistance gene (Hmelo et al., 2015). The pEX18Tc was propagated in *E. coli* strain DH5 $\alpha$  and extracted for use in the plasmid treatment experiments.

We performed a two-step *E. coli* cultivation procedure to produce enough plasmid copies to prepare stocks for various experiments. First, we inoculated host *E. coli* carrying the plasmid in 5 mL of lysogeny broth (LB) with 10  $\mu$ g/mL tetracycline and incubated at 37 °C with 200-rpm shaking for 24 hours (See Chapter 4, Section 4.2.2 for LB recipe). Next, we propagated the 5-mL cultures into 150 mL of LB with 10  $\mu$ g/mL tetracycline and incubated at 37 °C with 200-rpm shaking for an additional 24 hours before subsequent plasmid extraction.

Initially, we used the QIAPrep Spin MiniPrep Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to kit instructions to extract the plasmid from the host *E. coli*. Plasmid yields were consistently around 50 ng/ $\mu$ L, as measured with a DeNovix DS-C spectrophotometer using the DeNovix dsDNA broad range assay (DeNovix, Wilmington, DE). When added to the 150-mL reactor volumes used in our treatment experiments, the initial plasmid concentration was reduced to 0.016 ng/ $\mu$ L. During preliminary qPCR analyses, we determined that the 0.016 ng/ $\mu$ L initial plasmid concentration was too low for subsequent detection during our treatment experiments.

In order to increase the plasmid yield from the host *E. coli*, we used the ZymoPURE II Plasmid MaxiPrep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA) according to kit instructions. Plasmid yields were approximately 2000 ng/ $\mu$ L, which, when added to the 150-mL reactor volumes used in our treatment experiments, was reduced to 2 ng/ $\mu$ L. The higher plasmid yield with the ZymoPURE II Plasmid MaxiPrep Kit improved plasmid detection for our analyses.

# 5.2.1.4 Algae Treatment Setup

We prepared experimental and control solutions in modified Bold 3N medium (MB3N) using 250-mL reactors containing 150-mL liquid volume for each condition. The experimental and control conditions included: 1) the algae treatment, which comprised 50 mg/L algae biomass in MB3N, exposed to light, and contained 5.5 ng/µL plasmid; 2) an autoclaved algae control, comprising 50 mg/L autoclaved algae biomass in MB3N with 5.5 ng/µL plasmid and covered with aluminum foil to prevent light exposure; 3) a light control, comprising 5.5 ng/µL plasmid in MB3N without algae and exposed to light; and, 4) a dark control, comprising 5.5 ng/µL plasmid in MB3N without algae and covered with aluminum foil to prevent light exposure; 3) a light control, comprising 5.5 ng/µL plasmid in MB3N without algae and covered with aluminum foil to prevent light exposure. Blank controls containing MB3N and no plasmid were used as negative controls for plasmid analysis via qPCR and transformation assays. All reactors were cultivated under stirring, aeration, and 12 hours of illumination per day (cool white full-spectrum fluorescent growth lamp with 125 W 6500 K, 30  $\mu$ W/cm<sup>2</sup> UV penetration) for the treatment duration.

We collected 5-mL samples from all reactors at time 0 and every 24 hours thereafter. We measured optical density at 662 nm ( $OD_{662}$ ) to quantify algae biomass concentrations in the algae treatment series and autoclaved algae series at time 0 and every 24 hours thereafter. We syringe-filtered the collected samples from all reactors through 0.7-µm pore size glass microfiber filters (Millipore) prior to qPCR and transformation assays. Filtered samples were wrapped in aluminum foil to prevent light exposure and stored at -20 °C until analysis.

# 5.2.2.1 Primer Design

We selected primers using the NCBI primer BLAST tool for plasmid pEX18Tc (GenBank Accession Number: AF047519.1) (Hoang et al., 1998). We designed both short and long amplicon primers for the *tet* gene (1190 bps) of plasmid pEX18Tc and optimized one set of primers for each amplicon size (Table 5-1). The short amplicon primers covered a short section of the gene (< 200 bps) and the long amplicon primers covered the entire gene (~1200 bps).

Gene	Primer (5'-3')	Gene Size (base pairs)	PCR Annealing Temperature (°C)	Melting Temperature (°C)
Long				
Forward	CATTCAGGTCGAGGTGGC	1203	61	62.2
Long				
Reverse	CCTGGATGCTGTAGGCATAGG		61	64.5
Short				
Forward	GCTCTCCCTTATGCGACTCC	163	61	64.5
Short				
Reverse	CTCATGAGCGTTGTTTCGG		61	62.4

Table 5-1. Long amplicon and short amplicon primers used for the *tet* gene of pEX18Tc qPCR.

# 5.2.2.2 qPCR Protocol

We performed qPCR using a Bio-Rad CFX autocycler (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA). We tested multiple enzyme kits, but found the KAPA SYBR FAST qPCR Master Mix (2X) Kit (Kapa Biosystems, Inc, Wilmington, MA) to be the most effective for analyzing plasmid pEX18Tc. We performed qPCR in 96-well microplates. Each 25-µL qPCR reaction contained 0.4 µL of forward

and reverse primers at 100  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ L of master mix, 1  $\mu$ L of DNA template, and 8.2  $\mu$ L of sterile nuclease free water. The qPCR conditions were as follows: one cycle at 95 °C for 3 minutes, 40 cycles of 95 °C for 3 seconds followed by 20 seconds annealing at 61 °C, and a melt curve to assess specificity. Our qPCR method development was inconclusive due to challenges related to primer specificity, background matrix interference, and low plasmid concentration. Our approach to resolving the qPCR challenges is detailed in Section 3.1 of the results and discussion.

#### 5.2.3 Assessment of ARG Plasmid Transformation Efficiency

# 5.2.3.1 Transformation Assay Protocol

For our transformation assays, we used *Zymo Mix & Go! Competent Cells E. coli* strain DH5 $\alpha$  in the 50 µL 96-well plate format (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). Initially, we performed the assay according to the vendor instructions for tetracycline resistance markers, but we were met with challenges of transformation reproducibility. In order to improve reproducibility, we increased the number of technical replicates for each sample to no less than three and added additional steps to the protocol. We performed the transformation assays as follows: 1) thaw *Mix & Go! Competent Cells* tubes on ice; 2) once thawed, add 2.5 µL filtered sample DNA to each tube; 3) incubate tubes on ice for 30 minutes; 4) "heat shock" tubes at 42 °C for 45 seconds; 5) place tubes immediately back on ice for 2 minutes; 6) add 200 µL of SOC medium to each tube; 7) incubate at 37 °C for 1 hour; and 8) plate 40 µL of sample onto pre-warmed LB plates.

We evaluated plasmid transformation efficiency based on a previously developed method (Chang et al., 2017). Specifically, we quantified the plasmid transformation efficiency by comparing the number of *E. coli* colonies on the nonselective plate to the number of *E. coli* colonies on the tetracycline selective plate, as expressed by Equation 5-1:

Transformation Efficiency = $\frac{transformant CFU on selective plate}{total CFU on nonselective plate}$ 

where CFU stands for colony forming units.

We evaluated reduction of transformation efficiency by comparing the pre-treated and post-treated samples for each condition. Our negative controls revealed no artifactual growth of DH5 $\alpha$  without plasmid exposure on tetracycline selective plates, indicating that the DH5 $\alpha$  strain contained no inherent resistance to tetracycline.

# 5.3 Results and Discussion

#### 5.3.1 Quantification of ARG Plasmid

The overall goal of this study was to determine whether algae-mediated tertiary treatment mediates effective deactivation of the pEX18Tc plasmid. Deactivation effectiveness was assessed in two ways: first by quantifying plasmid reduction, and then by measuring loss of transformation efficiency pre- and post-treatment.

Our first step was to develop a method for quantifying pre- and post-treatment plasmid concentrations using qPCR. qPCR has been widely used in previous studies to monitor the presence and quantity of ARGs in environmental samples; much more so than transformation assays. qPCR has been widely used mostly due to convenience. Method development is typically fairly straightforward, and data collection is fairly straightforward once a robust method is in place. In order to optimize qPCR efficiency, it is recommended to amplify DNA regions within the range of ~75-200 base pairs (bps), since larger amplicons can inhibit amplification (Yuan et al., 2015;

Zhang et al., 2015; Zhuang et al., 2015). However, ARG amplicons are typically much larger than the recommended amplicon size for optimal qPCR, so methods to assess sections greater than 1000 bps in phosphate buffer solution or filtered wastewater matrices have been previously developed (Chang et al., 2017; He et al., 2019; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Yoon et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019). We were unsuccessful in our attempts to develop a qPCR method for the pEX18Tc plasmid as a result of inhibitory effects of the algae matrix and also plasmid concentrations that were below qPCR's reliable detection limit.

The first major challenge we faced with qPCR method development was the fact that our algae treatment needs to operate at a volume of at least 150 mL to maintain normal algal growth. This volume is much larger than what has been used in previously published bench-scale plasmid treatment experiments (Chang et al., 2017; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Yoon et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019). In our case, the plasmid stock (50 ng/ $\mu$ L) was diluted by roughly three orders of magnitude (1,000x) upon introduction to the treatment system. For this reason, our calibration standards for qPCR had to span this entire range plus additional dilute concentrations to reach the desired post-treatment concentration. All told, our plasmid standard serial dilutions spanned 10 orders of magnitude, ranging from a maximum of 6.132 ng/ $\mu$ L to a minimum of 6.132 x 10<sup>-10</sup> ng/ $\mu$ L, which would have corresponded with greater than 4 log reduction of the initial in-reactor concentration of 0.016 ng/ $\mu$ L (Table 5-2).

Standard Concentration	Anticipated Experimental		
(ng/µL)	Concentrations (ng/µL)	Percent Removal	log Reduction
6.132	0.016352	Initial (C <sub>0</sub> )	
6.13E-01	0.0147168	10% Removal	
6.13E-02	0.012264	25% Removal	
6.13E-03	0.008176	50% Removal	
6.13E-04	0.004088	75% Removal	
6.13E-05	0.0016352	90% Removal	1 log
6.13E-06	0.0008176	95% Removal	
6.13E-07	0.00016352	99% Removal	2 log
6.13E-08	1.6352E-05	99.9% Removal	3 log
6.13E-09	1.6352E-06	99.99% Removal	4 log
6.13 E-10			
Blank			

**Table 5-2.** Concentrations of plasmid pEX18Tc standard series with QIAPrep Spin MiniPrep Kit and anticipated experimental log reduction concentrations of pEX18Tc.

Figure 5-1 shows one example of a preliminary qPCR standard curve for plasmid pEX18Tc. Typically, samples with a cycle threshold (Ct) value greater than 30 or 35 are considered non-specific amplifications and are therefore deemed below the method's minimum detection level. Only the four plasmid standards with the highest concentrations met the criteria of having Ct values below 30 and generated a calibratable standard curve. Plasmid standard concentrations below 0.00613 ng/ $\mu$ L were not reliably quantifiable, which indicated that we would only be able to capture a maximum of 1 log reduction in our experiments. In order to quantify greater removal extents for plasmid pEX18Tc, we needed a higher initial plasmid concentration.



**Figure 5-1.** Preliminary qPCR standard curve using short amplicon primers for plasmid pEX18Tc. The black box frames the calibratable range of the standards and the red dashed line denotes the qPCR detection limit (Ct = 30 cycles). Standard concentrations are presented in Table 5-2.

We used the high concentration plasmid extraction kit from Zymo to improve plasmid yield and increase our initial experimental concentration. Despite the higher plasmid concentrations (Table 5-3), we continued to observe non-specific amplification at low plasmid concentrations as well as a reduction in standard curve linearity (Figure 5-2). In order to address the standard curve linearity, we generated new plasmid standard serial dilutions and reconstituted the primers, but the inconsistencies in the standard curves persisted.

Standard Concentration (ng/µL)	Anticipated Experimental Concentrations (ng/µL)	Percent Removal	log Reduction
1326	3.476666667	Initial (C <sub>0</sub> )	
1.33E+02	3.129	10% Removal	
1.33E+01	2.6075	25% Removal	
1.33E+00	1.738333333	50% Removal	
1.33E-01	0.869166667	75% Removal	
1.33E-02	0.347666667	90% Removal	1 log
1.33E-03	0.173833333	95% Removal	
1.33E-04	0.034766667	99% Removal	2 log
1.33E-05	0.003476667	99.9% Removal	3 log
1.33E-06	0.000347667	99.99% Removal	4 log
1.33E-07			
Blank			

**Table 5-3.** Concentrations of plasmid pEX18Tc standard series with ZymoPURE II PlasmidMaxiPrep Kit and anticipated experimental log reduction concentrations of pEX18Tc.



**Figure 5-2.** Preliminary qPCR standard curve using short amplicon primers for plasmid pEX18Tc. There was no calibratable region for this qPCR run and the red dashed line denotes the qPCR detection limit (Ct = 30 cycles). Standard concentrations are presented in Table 5-3.

The second major challenge we faced with qPCR method development was detecting the plasmid in the algae background matrix. Even with sample filtration to remove algae cells prior to qPCR, we observed inhibitory effects of the filtered algae background matrix on plasmid amplification. This inhibition effect was specific to both the viable (i.e., non-autoclaved) and autoclaved algae matrices since the effect was not evident in the other experimental matrices. To address this phenomenon, we tested sample preparation and cleanup kits such as the DNeasy PowerClean Pro Cleanup Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) to remove potential PCR inhibitors such as humic acids, but we still could not detect the plasmid in the algae matrix. This indicates that the inhibitor in the algae background matrix is likely an uncommon and difficult to remove compound.

In both the algae treatment samples and the autoclaved algae control samples, it was likely that there would be algae DNA in the background matrix. We wanted to be sure that the primers we had optimized for our plasmid would not inadvertently amplify the algae DNA. To address this, we used a ZymoBIOMICS DNA Microprep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA) on our algae samples to extract the algae DNA and performed qPCR on the samples using our long and short amplicon primers. We ran qPCR on our algae DNA samples both with and without plasmid and observed that both sets of primers were indeed cross-amplifying sections of the algae DNA in samples in the absence of the target plasmid. This indicates that the primers for pEX18Tc will need to be redesigned to be more specific to the plasmid and reduce co-amplification of algae DNA. This step has not been taken to date. Re-optimizing the primers for plasmid pEX18Tc will prove challenging since the genome of our algae species, *S. dimorphus*, has not been sequenced; which means there is no way to confirm that new primers won't co-amplify the algae genome without testing it experimentally.

An example of our melt temperature results from a qPCR run with samples of our algae background matrices using both long and short amplicon primers is presented in Table 5-4. Specifically, melt temperatures and Ct values for the background matrices with and without a plasmid concentration of 6.132 ng/µL are shown. The melt temperature results are used to identify specific qPCR products. Ideally, different products should have melt temperatures that are at least 2 °C different from one another. From Table 5-4, the samples containing extracted algae DNA and those with plasmid had melt temperatures within 2 °C of each other for both primer sets (i.e. 86.5 and 85 for the plasmid and algae DNA, respectively for the short amplicon primers). The close proximity of the two melt temperatures makes it difficult to distinguish between the amplification

products for the algae DNA versus the plasmid. This means that in our experiment, the plasmid quantities could be artificially inflated in samples containing algae DNA. In addition, the live and autoclaved algae matrix contained inhibitors that suppressed plasmid amplification as demonstrated by comparing the plasmid standard melt temperature and Ct values with those of the algae matrix and autoclaved algae with plasmid (Table 5-4).

**Table 5-4.** Melt temperature and cycle threshold (Ct) results for the live and autoclaved algae background matrices for both the short and long amplicon primers. Samples that contained plasmid had a plasmid concentration of  $6.132 \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$ .

	Short Amplicon Primers		Long Amplicon Primers	
Matrix	Melt Temperature (°C)	Ct	Melt Temperature (°C)	Ct
Plasmid Standard	86.5	27.12	88.5	4.46
Algae DNA with Plasmid	86.5	19.12	88.5	18.37
Algae Matrix with Plasmid	None	20.58	88.5	20.55
Autoclaved Algae with Plasmid	None	18.19	None	20.29
Algae DNA	85	27.76	89.0	30.72
Algae matrix	None	36.16	None	31.77
Autoclaved Algae	None	32.53	None	None
Negative control	75	31.27	None	None

In the end, we decided not to move forward with qPCR-based analysis of the extent to which algae treatment mediates a reduction in ARG concentration over time, as a result of challenges described above: the need for very large plasmid copy numbers in the initial stock,

based on reactor volume; the need for an unworkably large calibrated range; significant matrix inhibition on plasmid amplification; and significant cross-amplification of background algae DNA. These difficulties dramatically undermine the key benefit of qPCR for analyzing environmental samples, which is its speed and convenience. Emerging literature corroborates our findings by documenting disadvantages of using qPCR for assessment of ARGs in environmental samples. For example, it has been shown that qPCR provides an overly conservative estimate of the effectiveness of a treatment in deactivating ARGs (Chang et al., 2017; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Yoon et al., 2017). Overall plasmid damage is often underestimated by qPCR because it can only effectively assess short sections of DNA at a time (Chang et al., 2017; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Zhang et al., 2019). A plasmid can be deactivated as a result of damage to gene regions outside of the ARG portion captured by qPCR. This phenomenon is illustrated by recent work from two different groups: Chang et al. 2017 and Zhang et al. 2019 (Chang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019). In their comparison of short and long amplicon qPCR methods to assess deactivation of a plasmid carrying tet A- and bla<sub>TEM-1</sub>-resistance genes during UV treatment, Chang et al. 2017 observed that the first-order deactivation rate constants measured using a long amplicon protocol were larger than those measured using a short amplicon protocol. They concluded this was likely due to the presence of more target sites in longer DNA sequences, such that the longer amplicon protocol had higher likelihood of capturing UV-induced plasmid damage (Chang et al., 2017). Zhang et al. 2019 made the same observation in their comparison of long and short amplicon protocols for evaluating dissolved organic matter photosensitization of a plasmid carrying tet Aand *bla<sub>TEM-1</sub>*-resistance genes.

Additionally, Chang et al. 2017 and Zhang et. al. 2019 observed that qPCR provided a more conservative assessment of plasmid deactivation compared to relevant transformation assays

(Chang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2019). They posited that this result was likely due to the treatment's effects on gene regions that weren't captured in qPCR of the ARG alone. In their view, deactivation of plasmid gene regions outside of the ARG affected the plasmid's ability to be transformed by bacteria, which means that despite the lower degradation of the resistance genes themselves, the genes cannot spread to other hosts because the plasmid they reside on is unable to transform. This means that even if the ARG region of the plasmid remains intact, the plasmid's capacity to transmit antibiotic resistance in downstream organisms is likely reduced as a result of the applied treatment.

Overall, recent plasmid treatment studies provide evidence for the advantages of using an effects-based assessment approach, such as transformation assays, when evaluating a treatment's effectiveness in mitigating the spread of antibiotic resistance. Considering both our difficulties with qPCR method development and the literature evidence pointing toward the benefit of alternative assessments, we decided to stop qPCR troubleshooting and focus on our transformation assays. However, for sample matrices where qPCR protocols are readily available, qPCR is still a valuable tool for obtaining rapid and conservative estimates of ARG quantity.

# 5.3.2 Assessment of ARG Plasmid Transformation Efficiency

Our next goal was to assess the algae treatment's effectiveness in reducing the transformation efficiency of the pEX18Tc plasmid. The primary advantage of a transformation assay for this purpose is that it provides a more direct evaluation of the plasmid's ability to transform and confer resistance in downstream organisms before and after application of a water treatment.

Prior to performing transformation assays with our experimental samples, we assessed the transformation efficiencies of the plasmid in two control solutions (Figure 5-3). The first control solution contained 3.48 ng/ $\mu$ L of plasmid in nuclease-free water and the second contained 3.48 ng/ $\mu$ L of plasmid in filtered algae matrix. We observed that the plasmid transformation was suppressed in the presence of the filtered algae background matrix, as compared to plasmid transformation efficiency measured in the pure nuclease free water matrix. This preliminary result provided a promising indication of the potential effectiveness of the algae treatment over a longer treatment duration.



**Figure 5-3.** Preliminary transformation efficiencies of 3.48 ng/µL pEX18Tc plasmid standards in nuclease-free water and filtered algae background matrix. See Equation 5-1 for the transformation efficiency equation.

After optimization of our transformation assay protocol, our transformation efficiencies for tetracycline resistance were consistently between  $10^{-5}$  and  $10^{-6}$  for competent cells exposed to pEX18Tc in either a nuclease-free water solution (control), MB3N, or the experimental algae matrix. This means that one out of every 100,000 or 1,000,000 competent *E. coli* cells developed tetracycline resistance when exposed to our plasmid.

We then applied the optimized transformation assay protocol to our experimental pre- and post-treatment samples and calculated the corresponding transformation efficiencies. These results are presented in Figure 5-4. Consistent with our observations in the preliminary transformation assays, the transformation efficiencies for pre-treated plasmid in the autoclaved and live algae matrices are lower than those for the dark and light controls. Given the differences in pre-treated plasmid transformation efficiencies between the algae matrices and control samples, and in order to quantify transformation efficiency reduction, we normalized the data from Figure 5-4 using Equation 5-2. The resulting percent reductions in transformation efficiency are presented in Figure 5-5.



**Figure 5-4.** Pre- and Post-treatment transformation efficiencies of the pEX18Tc plasmid exposed to (1) dark control, (2) light control, (3) autoclaved algae control, or (4) algae treatment. Treatment duration was 3 days. Error bars represent standard deviation for the mean of three experimental replicates for each condition. See Equation 5-1 for the transformation efficiency equation.

# **Equation 5-2.**

Percent Reduction in Transformation Efficiency =  $\frac{Pre-Treatment - Post-Treatment}{Pre-Treatment} * 100\%$ 



**Figure 5-5.** Percent reduction in transformation efficiency of the pEX18Tc plasmid exposed to (1) dark control, (2) light control, (3) autoclaved algae control, or (4) algae treatment. Post-treatment corresponds with a treatment duration of 3 days. Error bars represent standard deviation for the mean of three experimental replicates for each condition. See Equation 5-2 for the percent reduction in transformation efficiency equation.

Based on our previous analysis of algae treatment of ciprofloxacin (CIP), we hypothesized that reduction in plasmid transformation efficiency could happen to varying degrees by different mechanisms occurring in the algae treatment system. In our autoclaved algae control, we observed an immediate reduction in pre-treated transformation efficiency (at time t = 0) compared with the algae-free dark controls. We also observed an additional reduction in transformation efficiency of 67% following 3 days of exposure to the autoclaved algae samples. It is not clear by what mechanism the conditions of the autoclaved algae series reduced the transformation efficiency for the pEX18Tc plasmid. We included the light control to isolate the effects of photolytic processes

on plasmid transformation efficiency. We observed a 100% loss of transformation efficiency over 3 days in the light control. We also observed 100% reduction in plasmid transformation efficiency over 3 days in the algae treated samples. Based on our observations for the controls, it is not possible to apportion the reduction in transformation efficiency among various mechanisms including photolytic processes, sorption, aggregation, etc. However, our dark control data confirms that loss of plasmid transformation efficiency is not occurring as a result of experimental artifacts.

With regards to the treatment duration, it is noteworthy that complete loss of transformation efficiency was observed in only 3 days; a duration that corresponds with typical hydraulic retention times for algal ponds (Craggs et al., 2014; García et al., 2000). In our previous assessment of algae treatment of CIP, we also observed rapid initial removal of the parent compound (~80% within 2 days), but only 93% of the initial parent compound concentration was removed after 6 days (Grimes et al., 2019). The experimental conditions were essentially the same in both studies. Future transformation analyses of samples collected at earlier time points would help elucidate the exact treatment duration needed to mediate 100% loss of plasmid transformation efficiency.

Our observations of rapid and complete loss of transformation efficiency via the algae treatment and light control align with the limited existing literature on changes in transformation efficiency for ARGs exposed to different water/wastewater treatments. Chang et al. 2017 performed transformation assays on a UV<sub>254</sub>-treated plasmid carrying ARGs with *Acinetobacter baylyi* as the competent host bacteria. They observed increasingly rapid reduction in transformation efficiency with increasing UV doses. They concluded that their plasmid required a UV<sub>254</sub> dose of 20-25 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> per log<sub>10</sub> of transformation efficiency (Chang et al., 2017). Similarly, Zhang et al. 2019 performed an analysis using transformation assays to evaluate deactivation of a plasmid via dissolved organic matter (DOM) photosensitization using a mercury lamp

photochemical reactor. The presence of DOM in the system increased the rate of transformation efficiency reduction compared with reactors that did not contain DOM (Zhang et al., 2019). Our algae system, which also contains DOM, is similar to that of Zhang et al. 2019, although our data showed no difference in plasmid transformation efficiency reduction between irradiated reactors with or without live algae. Future assessments of the algae treatment including earlier time point measurements could elucidate whether the presence of algae increases the rate of transformation efficiency reduction compared to the light control (e.g., by acting as photosensitizer) or decreases it (e.g., by reducing light penetration). Similarly, He et. al. 2019 observed changes in transformation efficiency of ARGs after treating with free chlorine, monochloramine, chlorine dioxide, ozone, UV, or hydroxyl radical. They observed > 90% reduction in transformation efficiency at typical WWTP disinfection exposures and reported higher rates of ARG deactivation for higher treatment doses (He et al., 2019).

It is clear from our results, and those of Chang et. al. 2017 and Zhang et al. 2019 that illumination has a major impact on plasmid deactivation. However, some studies have demonstrated ARG repair and reactivation after application of UV and other traditional wastewater treatments (Chang et al., 2017; Czekalski et al., 2016; Destiani and Templeton, 2019; Dodd, 2012; Lamba and Ahammad, 2017; McKinney and Pruden, 2012). Given the significant role of the light in deactivating the pEX18Tc plasmid (as made evident in the light control), future work should examine potential plasmid reactivation after an extended post-treatment duration. It would be of interest to examine what effect, if any, the algae background matrix may have on rate and extent of photorepair. Several studies have also shown that different treatments have varying degrees of effectiveness in degrading or deactivating intracellular ARGs compared with extracellular ARGs (Czekalski et al., 2016; Destiani and Templeton, 2019; Dodd, 2012; He et al., 2019; McKinney

and Pruden, 2012; Yoon et al., 2017). In this study, we focused solely on assessing algae treatment of an extracellular plasmid. Future work to assess deactivation of intracellular ARGs would provide a more holistic interpretation of the algae treatment's effectiveness in reducing the risk of disseminating antibiotic resistance.

In terms of environmental relevance, it is noteworthy that the algae background matrix mediated an immediate suppression of plasmid transformation compared with control stocks. The algae system has some similarities with natural receiving waters, such as the presence of DOM and solar light exposure. While receiving water conditions and light penetration can vary widely, our data suggest that freshwater systems containing algae may be conducive for suppressing some or all of a plasmid's ability to be transformed. However, the algae system has only been evaluated for one plasmid with one host bacterium, and the implications for the treatment's effectiveness against intracellular ARGs is not yet known.

Finally, it is imperative that we reiterate the importance of using transformation assays or other culture-based methods to evaluate the effectiveness of wastewater treatment technologies in deactivating ARGs. As studies have shown, quantitative methods (e.g. qPCR) can provide an estimate of a treatment's effectiveness, but quantitative reduction does not always correspond with a reduction in the likelihood of stimulating antibiotic resistance. Therefore, quantitative methods alone cannot provide the holistic picture of a treatment's effectiveness. Although it requires more time to obtain results for the transformation assay than for qPCR, culture-based methods are the "gold standard" to gain insight into a treatment's effectiveness toward reducing the risk of dissemination of antibiotic resistance in downstream waters. However, there are also caveats to the reliability of typical transformation assay protocols as a holistic effects-based assessment of a treatment. For example, they may provide an underestimation of ARG deactivation because the competence of only one pure-culture host bacterium is assessed. This challenge can be mitigated by assessing transformation efficiency for multiple host bacteria strains. On the other hand, transformation assays may overestimate ARG deactivation because most laboratory protocols involve steps to increase the competence of the host cells. To better simulate environmental transformation conditions, some studies have developed natural transformation protocols (He et al., 2019) or microcosm reactors (Burch et al., 2014; Fahrenfeld et al., 2013; Luo et al., 2014). Future studies that use natural transformation methods to assess treatment of ARGs should be performed.

# **5.4 Conclusions**

The results of this study demonstrate the efficacy of the algae treatment in rapidly reducing the extent to which the pEX18Tc plasmid is transformed by bacteria. In both the algae treatment and light control, 100% reduction in plasmid transformation efficiency was achieved in less than 3 days. A 67% loss of plasmid transformation efficiency was observed in the autoclaved algae control. Notably, the live and autoclaved algae background matrices suppressed plasmid transformation in pre-treatment samples relative to pure water and control background matrices. The similarities between the algae matrix and environmental matrices may indicate that environmental conditions are not conducive to maintaining extracellular plasmid in a state that is readily transformable, although future study is needed to confirm this hypothesis. Future work could focus on developing a qPCR methodology to address the algae background matrix interference and performing an evaluation of the algae treatment's efficacy in deactivating intracellular ARGs. While plasmid quantification with qPCR can be a useful method to estimate plasmid deactivation, the results of this study emphasize the importance of prioritizing transformation assays as an effects-based evaluation tool.

# **5.5 References**

- Burch, T.R., Sadowsky, M.J., LaPara, T.M., 2014. Fate of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Class
  1 Integrons in Soil Microcosms Following the Application of Treated Residual Municipal
  Wastewater Solids. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 5620–5627.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/es501098g
- Chang, P.H., Juhrend, B., Olson, T.M., Marrs, C.F., Wigginton, K.R., 2017. Degradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes with UV254 Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 6185–6192. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01120
- Chung, Y.S., Hu, Y.S., Shin, S., Lim, S.K., Yang, S.J., Park, Y.H., Park, K.T., 2017. Mechanisms of quinolone resistance in Escherichia coli isolated from companion animals, pet-owners, and non-pet-owners. J. Vet. Sci. 18, 449–456. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2017.18.4.449
- Colosi, L.M., Resurreccion, E.P., Zhang, Y., 2015. Assessing the energy and environmental performance of algae-mediated tertiary treatment of estrogenic compounds. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 17, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00541D
- Craggs, R., Park, J., Heubeck, S., Sutherland, D., 2014. High rate algal pond systems for lowenergy wastewater treatment, nutrient recovery and energy production. New Zeal. J. Bot. 52, 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/0028825X.2013.861855
- Czekalski, N., Imminger, S., Salhi, E., Veljkovic, M., Kleffel, K., Drissner, D., Hammes, F., Bürgmann, H., von Gunten, U., 2016. Inactivation of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Resistance Genes by Ozone: From Laboratory Experiments to Full-Scale Wastewater Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 11862–11871. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b02640
- Destiani, R., Templeton, M.R., 2019. Chlorination and ultraviolet disinfection of antibioticresistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in drinking water. AIMS Environ. Sci. 6, 222. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2019.3.222
- Dodd, M.C., 2012. Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation of antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. J. Environ. Monit. 14, 1754–1771. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2EM00006G
- Fahrenfeld, N., Ma, Y., O'Brien, M., Pruden, A., 2013. Reclaimed water as a reservoir of antibiotic resistance genes: distribution system and irrigation implications. Front. Microbiol. 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2013.00130

- García, J., Mujeriego, R., Hernández-Mariné, M., 2000. High rate algal pond operating strategies for urban wastewater nitrogen removal, in: Journal of Applied Phycology. Springer, pp. 331–339. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008146421368
- Ge, L., Deng, H., Wu, F., Deng, N., 2009. Microalgae-promoted photodegradation of two endocrine disrupters in aqueous solutions. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol. 84, 331–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2043
- Grimes, K.L., Dunphy, L.J., Loudermilk, E.M., Melara, A.J., Kolling, G.L., Papin, J.A., Colosi, L.M., 2019. Evaluating the efficacy of an algae-based treatment to mitigate elicitation of antibiotic resistance. Chemosphere 237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124421
- Guo, J., Li, J., Chen, H., Bond, P.L., Yuan, Z., 2017. Metagenomic analysis reveals wastewater treatment plants as hotspots of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile genetic elements. Water Res. 123, 468–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.002
- He, H., Zhou, P., Shimabuku, K.K., Fang, X., Li, S., Lee, Y., Dodd, M.C., 2019. Degradation and Deactivation of Bacterial Antibiotic Resistance Genes during Exposure to Free Chlorine, Monochloramine, Chlorine Dioxide, Ozone, Ultraviolet Light, and Hydroxyl Radical. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 2013–2026. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b04393
- Hmelo, L.R., Borlee, B.R., Almblad, H., Love, M.E., Randall, T.E., Tseng, B.S., Lin, C., Irie, Y., Storek, K.M., Yang, J.J., Siehnel, R.J., Howell, P.L., Singh, P.K., Tolker-Nielsen, T., Parsek, M.R., Schweizer, H.P., Harrison, J.J., 2015. Precision-engineering the Pseudomonas aeruginosa genome with two-step allelic exchange. Nat. Protoc. 10, 1820–1841. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2015.115
- Hoang, T.T., Karkhoff-Schweizer, R.R., Kutchma, A.J., Schweizer, H.P., 1998. A broad-hostrange F1p-FRT recombination system for site-specific excision of chromosomally-located DNA sequences: Application for isolation of unmarked Pseudomonas aeruginosa mutants. Gene 212, 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(98)00130-9
- Hu, Y.S., Shin, S., Park, Y.H., Park, K.T., 2017. Prevalence and Mechanism of Fluoroquinolone Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Swine Feces in Korea. J. Food Prot. 80, 1145– 1151. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-16-502
- Hultman, J., Tamminen, M., Pärnänen, K., Cairns, J., Karkman, A., Virta, M., 2018. Host range of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater treatment plant influent and effluent. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 94. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy038
- Johnning, A., Kristiansson, E., Fick, J., Weijdegård, B., Larsson, D.G.J., 2015. Resistance Mutations in gyrA and parC are Common in Escherichia Communities of both Fluoroquinolone-Polluted and Uncontaminated Aquatic Environments. Front. Microbiol. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01355
- Karkman, A., Do, T.T., Walsh, F., Virta, M.P.J., 2017. Antibiotic-Resistance Genes in Waste Water. Trends Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2017.09.005

- Kim, J.-Y., Jeon, S.-M., Kim, H., Lim, N., Park, M.-S., Kim, S.-H., 2012. Resistance to Fluoroquinolone by a Combination of Efflux and Target Site Mutations in Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli Isolated in Korea. Osong Public Heal. Res. Perspect. 3, 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrp.2012.11.002
- Lamba, M., Ahammad, S.Z., 2017. Performance comparison of secondary and tertiary treatment systems for treating antibiotic resistance. Water Res. 127, 172–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.10.025
- Li, D., Yu, T., Zhang, Y., Yang, M., Li, Z., Liu, M., Qi, R., 2010. Antibiotic Resistance Characteristics of Environmental Bacteria from an Oxytetracycline Production Wastewater Treatment Plant and the Receiving River. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 3444–3451. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02964-09
- Luo, Y., Yang, F., Mathieu, J., Mao, D., Wang, Q., Alvarez, P.J.J., 2014. Proliferation of Multidrug-Resistant New Delhi Metallo-β-lactamase Genes in Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants in Northern China. Environ. Sci. Technol. Lett. 1, 26–30. https://doi.org/10.1021/ez400152e
- Lupan, I., Carpa, R., Oltean, A., Kelemen, B.S., Popescu, O., 2017. Release of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria by a Waste Treatment Plant from Romania. Microbes Environ. 32, 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.ME17016
- Marti, E., Jofre, J., Balcazar, J.L., 2013. Prevalence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Bacterial Community Composition in a River Influenced by a Wastewater Treatment Plant. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078906
- Mavroidi, A., Miriagou, V., Liakopoulos, A., Tzelepi, E., Stefos, A., Dalekos, G.N., Petinaki, E., 2012. Ciprofloxacin-resistant Escherichia coli in Central Greece: mechanisms of resistance and molecular identification. BMC Infect. Dis. 12, 371. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-12-371
- May, T., Ito, A., Okabe, S., 2009. Induction of Multidrug Resistance Mechanism in Escherichia coli Biofilms by Interplay between Tetracycline and Ampicillin Resistance Genes. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 4628–4639. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00454-09
- McKinney, C.W., Pruden, A., 2012. Ultraviolet Disinfection of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Their Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Water and Wastewater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 13393–13400. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303652q
- Menger-Krug, E., Niederste-Hollenberg, J., Hillenbrand, T., Hiessl, H., 2012. Integration of Microalgae Systems at Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants: Implications for Energy and Emission Balances. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 11505–11514. https://doi.org/10.1021/es301967y
- Morgan-Linnell, S.K., Boyd, L.B., Steffen, D., Zechiedrich, L., 2009. Mechanisms Accounting for Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Escherichia coli Clinical Isolates. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 235–241. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00665-08

- Shi, W., Wang, L., Rousseau, D.P.L., Lens, P.N.L., 2010. Removal of estrone, 17αethinylestradiol, and 17β-estradiol in algae and duckweed-based wastewater treatment systems. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 17, 824–833. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0301-7
- von Wintersdorff, C.J.H., Penders, J., van Niekerk, J.M., Mills, N.D., Majumder, S., van Alphen, L.B., Savelkoul, P.H.M., Wolffs, P.F.G., 2016. Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. Front. Microbiol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173
- Yoon, Y., Chung, H.J., Wen Di, D.Y., Dodd, M.C., Hur, H.-G., Lee, Y., 2017. Inactivation efficiency of plasmid-encoded antibiotic resistance genes during water treatment with chlorine, UV, and UV/H2O2. Water Res. 123, 783–793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.056
- Yuan, Q.-B., Guo, M.-T., Yang, J., 2015. Fate of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Genes during Wastewater Chlorination: Implication for Antibiotic Resistance Control. PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119403
- Zhang, X., Li, J., Fan, W.-Y., Yao, M.-C., Yuan, L., Sheng, G.-P., 2019. Enhanced Photodegradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes by Dissolved Organic Matter Photosensitization. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 10732–10740. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03096
- Zhang, Y., Habteselassie, M.Y., Resurreccion, E.P., Mantripragada, V., Peng, S., Bauer, S., Colosi, L.M., 2014. Evaluating removal of steroid estrogens by a model alga as a possible sustainability benefit of hypothetical integrated algae cultivation and wastewater treatment systems. ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 2, 2544–2553. https://doi.org/10.1021/sc5004538
- Zhang, Yingying, Zhuang, Y., Geng, J., Ren, H., Zhang, Yan, Ding, L., Xu, K., 2015. Inactivation of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater effluent by chlorination and sequential UV/chlorination disinfection. Sci. Total Environ. 512–513, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.028
- Zhuang, Y., Ren, H., Geng, J., Zhang, Yingying, Zhang, Yan, Ding, L., Xu, K., 2015. Inactivation of antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater by chlorination, ultraviolet, and ozonation disinfection. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 7037–7044. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3919-z

# Chapter 6: Contextualization and Thematic Conclusions

Throughout the course of this research, we explored and unearthed several noteworthy themes. The overarching theme of this work is that it is more valuable to assess treatment effects than it is to quantify removal. In the case of algae treatment of ciprofloxacin (CIP), we found that 93% removal of the parent compound resulted in effluents that did not stimulate CIP resistance. However, this observation is not always true for other antibiotics and treatments, as studies have shown that transformation reactions can generate byproducts that are equally or more potent than the parent compound (Fatta-Kassinos et al., 2011; Noguera-Oviedo and Aga, 2016). The development of antibiotic resistance is a complex process with many factors, so the quantity of antibiotics, antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB), and antibiotic resistant genes (ARGs) in effluents may not directly correspond with their level of risk for disseminating antibiotic resistance. Traditional focus on antibiotic and ARG quantification methods should be shifted in favor of culture-based methods like adaptive laboratory evolution for antibiotics treatment and transformation or microcosm assays for ARG treatment to move the field forward. In instances where treatments have only been assessed with quantification methods, culture-based methods should be used to verify previous observations.

A second theme that has emerged from this work is insight related to which wastewater constituents pose the greatest risk for antibiotic resistance dissemination in the environment and should subsequently be highest priorities at wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). Generally, ARB and antibiotics are considered a major threat in environmental systems, and previous studies have also stressed the importance of mitigating extracellular ARGs in WWTPs (Amarasiri et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2017; Dodd, 2012; McKinney and Pruden, 2012; Zhang et al., 2019). However, the significant loss of plasmid transformation efficiency observed upon initial exposure to the algae matrix, together with similar observations in other studies, could suggest that extracellular ARG pose less risk than other relevant wastewater constituents (Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994; Munck et al., 2015). Based on our results, we would rank the priority for mitigation of these constituents as ARB > antibiotics > extracellular ARGs. However, it would be unwise to completely disregard the impact of extracellular ARGs in the environment based on the limited data available, since there is evidence that natural transformation can occur under certain circumstances, particularly when naturally competent environmental bacteria are exposed to plasmids that remain viable despite harsh environmental conditions (Domingues et al., 2019, 2018; Hasegawa et al., 2018; Lorenz and Wackernagel, 1994; Mantilla-Calderon et al., 2019; von Wintersdorff et al., 2016). Additional studies on treatment of different ARGs and transformation assays with different strains of competent bacteria are needed before a definitive conclusion about their risk toward stimulating antibiotic resistance relative to other constituents can be made. Ultimately, treatments that can deactivate antibiotics, ARB, and ARGs collectively will be the most effective in reducing dissemination of antibiotic resistance in the environment.

Finally, it is necessary to address the role of algae in this research and contextualize its implications for full-scale wastewater treatment and impacts on the natural environment via receiving waters. It is clear from our results in Chapters 3 and 5 that the algae cultivation conditions contribute to both CIP removal and plasmid pEX18Tc deactivation. Although our results suggest algae treatment could be a promising technology for the wastewater antibiotic resistance mitigation fleet, many challenges still exist with scaling up the technology beyond current bench and pilot-

scale systems; e.g., its large land footprint and significant consumption of carbon dioxide and other growth nutrients, variations in its effectiveness toward pollutant removal in mixed algae cultures with wastewater bacteria, and the energy consumption associated with harvesting the algae for bioenergy (Colosi et al., 2015; Lavrinovičs and Juhna, 2018).

Interestingly, some aspects of the algae cultivation system are similar to environmental receiving waters; namely, the presence of dissolved organic matter, dissolved oxygen, and diurnal solar irradiation. The typical reactive conditions of environmental receiving waters have been shown to mitigate some antibiotics, ARB, and ARGs. However, receiving water conditions are highly variable, meaning that environmental deactivation of these constituents is inconsistent. Despite the potential for photolytic, biochemical, and other reactions to occur, some antibiotics, ARB, and ARGs are persistent and have been measured in environmental systems. This observation may be a result of variable factors in environmental systems such as variations in light penetration, seasonal changes, variations in upstream wastewater treatment, location, etc. Therefore, our observations of the algae system are not entirely analogous to environmental systems. Another system that may provide similar conditions conducive to antibiotic and ARG removal without the operational burden and maintenance costs associated with large-scale microalgae cultivation systems are constructed wetlands. Recent studies of constructed wetlands have demonstrated effective removal of antibiotics, although more studies of constructed wetland deactivation of ARB and ARGs is needed (Berglund et al., 2014; Bôto et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016; Hijosa-Valsero et al., 2011; Santos et al., 2019; Shan et al., 2020). Future work in this field should investigate constructed wetland treatment of ARB and ARGs. It is possible that constructed wetlands may be a more realistic and sustainable alternative to an algae system to effectively treat antibiotics, ARGs, and ARB at a lower cost.
Overall, antibiotic resistance presents a leading threat to global public health, and WWTPs are widely considered to be a critical node for controlling its spread (Manaia et al., 2018; Pruden et al., 2013). Traditional treatments such as UV have demonstrated effective deactivation of some antibiotics, ARB, and ARGs, but they come with high energy costs to deliver the high doses required. Moreover, there is evidence that ARGs may reactivate via photo-repair following UVbased deactivation. These are serious shortcomings of widely used conventional water/wastewater treatments currently available on the market, especially given that the constituents of interest are currently unregulated. Although the algae treatment has shown promising effectiveness for antibiotic removal and ARG deactivation, the looming threat of antibiotic resistance requires immediate action and likely cannot wait for the additional treatment assessments needed or the development of full-scale algae treatment. Therefore, I believe the path forward for the environmental engineering community is to 1) explore methods to reduce energy consumption of traditional treatments such as implementing solar-powered UV; 2) evaluate and identify levels of treatment that prevent ARG reactivation; and 3) explore constructed wetlands as a potential lowcost treatment. Notably, these options deliver valuable removal of various regulated wastewater constituents, such that removal of unregulated, antibiotic resistance-relevant constituents is an additional, externalized benefit of their application.

## **6.1 References**

- Amarasiri, M., Sano, D., Suzuki, S., 2019. Understanding human health risks caused by antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) and antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) in water environments: Current knowledge and questions to be answered. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1692611
- Berglund, B., Khan, G.A., Weisner, S.E.B., Ehde, P.M., Fick, J., Lindgren, P.E., 2014. Efficient removal of antibiotics in surface-flow constructed wetlands, with no observed impact on antibiotic resistance genes. Sci. Total Environ. 476–477, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.12.128
- Bôto, M., Almeida, C., Mucha, A., 2016. Potential of Constructed Wetlands for Removal of Antibiotics from Saline Aquaculture Effluents. Water 8, 465. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100465
- Chang, P.H., Juhrend, B., Olson, T.M., Marrs, C.F., Wigginton, K.R., 2017. Degradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes with UV254 Treatment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 6185–6192. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01120
- Chen, J., Wei, X.D., Liu, Y.S., Ying, G.G., Liu, S.S., He, L.Y., Su, H.C., Hu, L.X., Chen, F.R., Yang, Y.Q., 2016. Removal of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes from domestic sewage by constructed wetlands: Optimization of wetland substrates and hydraulic loading. Sci. Total Environ. 565, 240–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.176
- Colosi, L.M., Resurreccion, E.P., Zhang, Y., 2015. Assessing the energy and environmental performance of algae-mediated tertiary treatment of estrogenic compounds. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts 17, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4EM00541D
- Dodd, M.C., 2012. Potential impacts of disinfection processes on elimination and deactivation of antibiotic resistance genes during water and wastewater treatment. J. Environ. Monit. 14, 1754–1771. https://doi.org/10.1039/C2EM00006G
- Domingues, S., Rosário, N., Ben Cheikh, H., Da Silva, G.J., 2018. ISAba1 and Tn6168 acquisition by natural transformation leads to third-generation cephalosporins resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii. Infect. Genet. Evol. 63, 13–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.05.007
- Domingues, S., Rosário, N., Cândido, Â., Neto, D., Nielsen, K.M., Da Silva, G.J., 2019. Competence for Natural Transformation Is Common among Clinical Strains of Resistant Acinetobacter spp. Microorganisms 7, 30. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7020030
- Fatta-Kassinos, D., Vasquez, M.I., Kümmerer, K., 2011. Transformation products of pharmaceuticals in surface waters and wastewater formed during photolysis and advanced oxidation processes – Degradation, elucidation of byproducts and assessment of their biological potency. Chemosphere 85, 693–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.082

- Hasegawa, H., Suzuki, E., Maeda, S., 2018. Horizontal Plasmid Transfer by Transformation in Escherichia coli: Environmental Factors and Possible Mechanisms. Front. Microbiol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02365
- Hijosa-Valsero, M., Fink, G., Schlüsener, M.P., Sidrach-Cardona, R., Martín-Villacorta, J., Ternes, T., Bécares, E., 2011. Removal of antibiotics from urban wastewater by constructed wetland optimization. Chemosphere 83, 713–719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.02.004
- Lavrinovičs, A., Juhna, T., 2018. Review on Challenges and Limitations for Algae-Based Wastewater Treatment. Constr. Sci. 20, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.2478/cons-2017-0003
- Lorenz, M.G., Wackernagel, W., 1994. Bacterial Gene Transfer by Natural Genetic Transformation in the Environment, MICROBIOLOGICAL REVIEWS.
- Manaia, C.M., Rocha, J., Scaccia, N., Marano, R., Radu, E., Biancullo, F., Cerqueira, F., Fortunato, G., Iakovides, I.C., Zammit, I., Kampouris, I., Vaz-Moreira, I., Nunes, O.C., 2018. Antibiotic resistance in wastewater treatment plants: Tackling the black box. Environ. Int. 115, 312– 324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.03.044
- Mantilla-Calderon, D., Plewa, M.J., Michoud, G., Fodelianakis, S., Daffonchio, D., Hong, P.-Y., 2019. Water Disinfection Byproducts Increase Natural Transformation Rates of Environmental DNA in Acinetobacter baylyi ADP1. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 6520–6528. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00692
- McKinney, C.W., Pruden, A., 2012. Ultraviolet Disinfection of Antibiotic Resistant Bacteria and Their Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Water and Wastewater. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 13393–13400. https://doi.org/10.1021/es303652q
- Munck, C., Albertsen, M., Telke, A., Ellabaan, M., Nielsen, P.H., Sommer, M.O.A., 2015. Limited dissemination of the wastewater treatment plant core resistome. Nat. Commun. 6, 8452. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9452
- Noguera-Oviedo, K., Aga, D.S., 2016. Lessons learned from more than two decades of research on emerging contaminants in the environment. J. Hazard. Mater. 316, 242–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.058
- Pruden, A., Larsson, D.G.J., Amézquita, A., Collignon, P., Brandt, K.K., Graham, D.W., Lazorchak, J.M., Suzuki, S., Silley, P., Snape, J.R., Topp, E., Zhang, T., Zhu, Y.-G., 2013. Environmental Health Perspectives – Management Options for Reducing the Release of Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance Genes to the Environment 121, 878–885. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206446
- Santos, F., Almeida, C.M.R., Ribeiro, I., Mucha, A.P., 2019. Potential of constructed wetland for the removal of antibiotics and antibiotic resistant bacteria from livestock wastewater. Ecol. Eng. 129, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.01.007

- Shan, A., Wang, W., Kang, K.J., Hou, D., Luo, J., Wang, G., Pan, M., Feng, Y., He, Z., Yang, X., 2020. The Removal of Antibiotics in Relation to a Microbial Community in an Integrated Constructed Wetland for Tail Water Decontamination. Wetlands 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-019-01262-8
- von Wintersdorff, C.J.H., Penders, J., van Niekerk, J.M., Mills, N.D., Majumder, S., van Alphen, L.B., Savelkoul, P.H.M., Wolffs, P.F.G., 2016. Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. Front. Microbiol. 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00173
- Zhang, X., Li, J., Fan, W.-Y., Yao, M.-C., Yuan, L., Sheng, G.-P., 2019. Enhanced Photodegradation of Extracellular Antibiotic Resistance Genes by Dissolved Organic Matter Photosensitization. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 10732–10740. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b03096

## Chapter 7: Conclusions and Future Study

## 7.1 Research Summary and Conclusions

This dissertation explored the efficacy of a novel bench-scale algae treatment system toward deactivation of wastewater constituents that can stimulate antibiotic resistance. Specifically, we studied the treatment of two major constituents: a model antibiotic, ciprofloxacin (CIP), and a model antibiotic resistance gene (ARG), plasmid pEX18Tc, which carries the tetracycline resistance gene, tet. The algae treatment system consists of a monoculture of S. dimorphus exposed to twelve hours of simulated solar irradiation daily. Previous studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of UV and dissolved organic matter photosensitization systems toward ARG deactivation, so we hypothesized that the algae system would be similarly effective with the added wastewater treatment plant benefit of being a net-energy generating treatment. First, we evaluated the algae treatment's efficacy toward reducing CIP and its residual effects through the use of liquid chromatography, microbiological assays, and adaptive laboratory evolution. Next, we developed qPCR and transformation assay methods to evaluate the treatment's efficacy toward deactivating plasmid pEX18Tc. Our qPCR method development was inconclusive due to low plasmid concentrations and background matrix interference, but we were successful in developing a transformation assay to measure reduction in transformation efficiency. Our results indicate that the algae treatment is effective at removing CIP and its residual effects and deactivating plasmid pEX18Tc. Together, our analyses provide a comprehensive understanding of the algae treatment's

effectiveness toward reducing the impacts of both an antibiotic and an ARG on downstream bacteria through the emphasis and development of effects-based assessment methods.

With regards to algae treatment of CIP, we observed rapid removal of the parent compound that was primarily driven by algae and light mediated transformation reactions. Maximum removals of 93% for algae treatment and 53% for the light control occurred after six days, but with the bulk of the removal occurring within a typical residence time of two days. Removal of the parent CIP compound corresponded with a reduction in acute potency of the treated effluents toward *E. coli*. Our adaptive laboratory evolution experiment revealed that treated effluents did not stimulate phenotype or genotype CIP resistance.

With regards to algae treatment of plasmid pEX18Tc, we observed that the algae background matrix not only suppressed plasmid amplification during qPCR, but also reduced plasmid transformation efficiency in pre-treatment controls. In less than three days of treatment, the algae treated and light control samples mediated a 100% loss of plasmid transformation efficiency.

Overall, this research has provided a framework for evaluating the efficacy of other candidate treatments for mitigating antibiotic resistance disseminated from wastewater effluents. In particular, it emphasizes the need to assess effluent characteristics *beyond* residual concentrations of the parent drug compound or quantities of ARGs, most notably: residual capacity to stimulate antibiotic resistance via chronic exposure; and loss of transformable ARGs.

## 7.2 Recommendations for Future Study

Although we ultimately discovered that it was not worthwhile to continue pursuing qPCR method development for the algae treatment system for the purposes of this dissertation, we can provide recommendations for future study based on our findings. Inconclusive results from this dissertation reveal that there are methodological challenges to applying qPCR to the algae treatment system including low plasmid yields, background matrix interference with plasmid amplification, and challenges with primer specificity. Additionally, previous literature suggests that qPCR is a less useful tool than transformation assays for determining a treatment's effectiveness. However, a developed qPCR method could be useful for quickly estimating ARG deactivation and for comparing the algae treatment with other treatments. In order to continue qPCR method development, I would recommend the following:

1) Scale up plasmid extraction. Methods for scaling up could include growing plasmid host cultures in waves and freezing large quantities of extracted plasmid to combine and use in later experiments, or increasing laboratory capacity to grow more host cultures simultaneously.

2) Re-optimize the primers or select a different ARG. Our challenge with this research was the co-amplification of the *tet* gene and the extracted algae DNA. To address this issue, different primers could be selected. However, since the genome for *S. dimorphus* has not been sequenced, it would not be possible to optimize primer specificity without testing new primers experimentally each time. Optimizing primers to a genome of an algae species with similar characteristics to *S. dimorphus* may help to some degree, but genomic variations between different strains make this not an ideal solution. Processes for sequencing the *S*.

*dimorphus* genome or switching to a different algal strain for the treatment experiments would likely be laborious and present their own complex challenges. Most likely the simplest solution would be to analyze a different ARG that has primer binding sites that are unique from the algae genome.

3) Identify constituents in the algae background matrix that interfere with ARG amplification and develop a filtration method to remove those compounds. It may be possible that other commercially available kits for purifying plasmid DNA may be more effective than those we tried. Solid phase extraction could also be a useful tool for removing algae matrix inhibitors and eluting only the plasmid. Most likely the simplest option would be to scale up the plasmid yields so that concentrations are high enough to be detected beyond the background baseline (See recommendation 1).

Additionally, Chapter 4 of this dissertation focused only on deactivation of extracellular plasmids. While we observed the algae treatment to be especially effective at plasmid deactivation, our observations of a rapid loss of transformation efficiency may indicate that extracellular ARGs are less likely to transform in the environment than intracellular ARGs. Although most studies to date postulate that typical wastewater disinfection processes likely disinfect antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB) to an insignificant level, it is possible that the ~0.01% of ARB that survive wastewater disinfection are driving antibiotic resistance stimulation in downstream environments. Similarly, bacteriophage transmission of antibiotic resistance may also play a major role in downstream antibiotic resistance stimulation and a small percentage of these viruses can survive disinfection. Therefore, it is of interest for future research to investigate treatment of intracellular ARGs, ARB, and bacteriophage.

The central theme of this dissertation is the emphasis on the broader practicality of using effects-based evaluation methods. Other researchers in the wastewater treatment of ARGs field have also begun to take note of the need for more practical assessments and are developing assays that can better replicate some of the complexities of natural microbial interactions. Specifically, a few recent studies have introduced the concept of microcosm studies. The main idea behind microcosms is to simulate the interactions of treated effluents with natural bacteria populations. Generally, researchers collect an environmental water or sediment sample and expose the native bacteria to lab-scale or wastewater treated effluents and observe whether or not natural transformation of ARGs occurs via selective plating. The findings from this dissertation have influenced the next generation of researchers in our team to continue this line of work and adapt a microcosm study to assess a local WWTP for its effectiveness toward ARG and ARB deactivation. We believe microcosm assessments are the next evolution in effects-based assaying of water and wastewater treatment technologies.